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2 DESCRIPTION OF BUILDINGS AND GROUNDS.
i too far removed from the city prnper,” and after .mucll
deliberation the present site was decided. According to
present advanced hospital science, this was an ll.l'tfl:)l‘tllﬂf‘it-e
and unhygienic site. The old Roxbury canal, which carried
the sewage of Roxbury to tide-water, ran through one corner of
the premises, and a considerable portion of the land was snIIt
water flats, largely of dock mud. The city already was 1n
possession of this land, and, therefore, would not have to
expend what was then considered a considerable sum for the
purchase of a better site elsewhere. Roxbury, which ]m(l'
many excellent sites for a hospital, was not at that time a
part of the City of Boston. The South End was the  court
end ™ of the town, and the Back Bay was practically not in
existence. These may have been, in the light of things as
they were in the decade of the 60’s, reasonable gronnds for
locating the Hospital where it now is. The promoters them-
selves had misgivings that it was not the best site, for Mr.
Thomas C. Amory, Jr., in the dedicatory address delivered
by him at the opening of the Hospital, said: * The responsi-
bility of selecting a location had been assumed by our prede-
cessors, but doubts had arisen if this were of all others the
one to be preferred. A site on solid ground, more central,
more elevated, and nearer to the sea seemed more eligible, if
to be obtained. DBut to each and every spot were found
objections, outweighing any advantage, if possessed. Finally,
discouraged, we returned to our earlier choice. Here we
had ample space. The public domain of seventy acres could
well spare one-tenth of its area for so sacred a purpose.”

On March 27, 1858, the City of Boston was authorized to
establish a City Hospital (Aects of 1858, chapter 113). By
the Acts of the Commonwealth of 1880, chapter 774, the
Hospital was incorporated under the name of  The Trustees
of the City Hospital of the City of Boston.” In the year
1893, Aets of the Commonwealth, chapter 91, the name of
“The Trustees of the City Hospital of the City of Boston
was changed to « The Boston City Hospital.” The ordinance
of the City of Boston relating to the City Hospital will be
found in the Revised Ordinances of the year 1892, chapter
16. It therefore appears that the Hospital has two names,
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City Hospital,” by Henry G. Clark, M. D.; Boston, 1861, p.
18. The limits of this paper forbid a presentation of the
opinions of eminent physicians of that era, or the plans of
architects, preliminary to the construetion of the Hospital.
The plans finally accepted were made by Gridley F. J.
Bryant, to whom, with his assistants, belongs the credit for
the architecture of the buildings as they stood in the first
decade of the Hospital history.

Ground was broken for the City Hospital September 9,
1861. The area was 292,633 square feet, or about 6.7
acres. The assessed valnation was 73,000,

CITY HORPITAL, SOUTHWESTERN ELEVATION, 1204,

Four buildings constituted the original group: the Ad-
ministration Building, Pavilion I (Wards A, B, C and D),
Pavilion II (Wards E, F, G and H) and the boiler-house
on Albany street, at the extreme end of a long corridor run-
ning south from the Administration Building. All the
buildings were French renaissance in their general style.

The Administration Building is an imposing structure,
making an admirable centre for a hospital group. It is
constructed of brick, upon granite basement walls, with
granite trimmings on the upper stories. The first plan of
having the ornamental parts made of carved granite was
abandoned as the work progressed, on account of the very
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oreat expense, and wooden columns, balustrades and porches
were substituted. It is three stories high, with a large,
high basement. It is entered by a flight of eighteen stone
steps, forty-two feet wide between buttresses. It is sur-
mounted by a stately dome, crowned with a lantern, whose
apex is 148 feet above the level of the street. The building
is surrounded by a heavy cornice with dentils and balus-
trades, in harmony with the rest of the buildings. Both the
front and rear have projecting porches, supported by four
large Corinthian columns, better adapted to a more preten-
tious edifice than the administration building of a municipal
hospital.

The basement rooms are thirteen feet high, with a sub-
basement concreted upon the earth beneath. The lower
story is used for a kitchen, with store-rooms, a dispensary,
laboratory and store-room purposes, dining-rooms for em-
ployees and help, clerks’ and steward’s store-room. The
first story is sixteen feet high, and, as originally intended,
was used for general administrative purposes: a large trus-
tees’ office, superintendent’s oflice, reception-room for visit-
ors, and two rooms assigned as superintendent’s apartments.
The second floor is fourteen feet high, and was originally
occupied by private rooms for patients. The rooms in the
third or attic story are mostly lighted from the ceiling, and
were used as accessories to operating-room and chambers for
employees. Originally, the operating theatre was in the
dome of this building, and remains to-day as first designed,
but unoccupied. It was reached by two stairways and a
lumbering hand elevator for transporting patients. This
method was found to be inconvenient and laborious and was
abandoned in 1876, as will be described later, with the other
changes in the occupancy of this building.

Pavilion I, for surgical wards, and Pavilion II, for
medieal wards, are practically alike. The two pavilions,
placed about 100 feet from the Administration Building and
connected by a quadrant-shaped covered colonnade, were in
keeping with the Administration Building, though less ornate.
They are 180 feet long, 48 feet in width and three stories
high, not including the basement. Each basement had a
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This building was substantially replaced in 1903 by
another structure, to be deseribed later. The history of this
building, on account of the.class of cases placed there,
remains clear and distinet to the older members of the Staff,
and also to those of not very remote years; and although
there was much that was deplorable and pathetic in the class
of cases treated there, there must be credited to its doctors
and nurses the saving of hundreds of lives. The total expendi-
ture of the building here described, from the beginning in
1861 to 1873, was $439,297. This is exclusive of the land.

THE YEARS 1867 TO 1574,

Between 1867 and 1874 a few additions were made, such
as a small building at the corner of Harrison avenue and
East Concord street, for waiting and examining rooms for
applicants for admission, and also for a few medical out-
patients. In 1874 a propagating house for the preservation
of plants for the ornamentation of the grounds was con-
structed. Practieally, however, the Hospital remained from
1867 to 1874 without any important additions. In the
meantime the city was constantly increasing in its popula-
tion. Year by year the number of rejections of patients
grew larger and larger, the Hospital at this time containing
only 235 beds, of which 40 were in the basement.

A group of buildings construeted over forty years ago for
the recovery of the sick could hardly be expected to have
the vantage ground of buildings construeted npon the
advanced hygienic lines of modern hospitals. The profes-
sional work was then done under great disadvantages, and
antiseptic surgery was unknown. The deleterious effects of
dampness were not then fully appreciated, and although in
the light of modern hospital construction we know that the
methods then in vogue were bad, it is nevertheless true that
they were up to the best knowledge of that period.

ADDITIONAL NEW BUILDINGS.
The faults of construction between 1867 and 1875 came
to be fully recognized. After much agitation by the Trustees
and Medical Staff, in 1874 action was taken which resulted
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in an appropriation by the City Council of 190,000 for
reconstrueting and enlarging the Hospital. Iive new build-
-IH_'_:"- wereg 1'['|'1'1|'||, H :-II!';LEL':L] !IIIJi..:i“rl:_l_ H Itll.'l.ii':':ll ||!Lill§ij|l_:
each three stories ||il<_:t|., with a habitable basement: two
LJ]Ii'-Hl_HI'itrLI w:m]ﬁ. ore II]l'l“.L':ll .'l[lil olne r-'ulll'_'_{iL':I:, q'llll] il

kitchen, bakery and refrigerators.

1], — BLOUK IPLAN, I87T0=-749,

MEW MEDMCAL AND SURGICAL BUILDINGS,
lixteriorly the new surgical and new medical buildings
were upon the same levels of the floors of Pavilions I and 11.
They had the same general style as the two older pavilions,
but were more simple on the outside, and care was taken to

place them agreeably in relation to the Administration Build-
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wards as in any other ward of the Hospital, and at the
remarkably low construction cost of less than %750 per bed,
against 5,550 per bed in a modern hospital in a large city
opened within a year or two. These two wards have served
a most excellent study in the subject of hospital construc-
tion. Leaving out the enormous dangers of the risk of
destruetion by fire of the buildings and the lives of patients,
they furnish a good illustration and fruitful example of the
differences between the former inexpensive per capita cost
and the palatial requirements in some of the newer hospital
wards built in this decade.

NEwW KITCHEN.

The central kitchen for the Hospital was originally in the
basement of the Administration Building : but like all kitch-
ens similarly placed, it proved a great nuisance, the air of the
building always being permeated with disagreeable odors of
cooked food. A new and improved kitchen in the rear of
the Administration Building was the fifth buiiding in the
present group mentioned. At that time it was considered
fully up to the proper standard, and was a good kitchen
in many of its appointments. Little need be said about it
here, as in 1900 it was reconstructed and rearranged and
practically made twice as large, and many times more
efficient.

In addition to the five new buildings just mentioned,
Pavilion 1 and Pavilion II underwent a large amount of
intermittent reconstruction, so that at the close of 1876 the
Hospital was then often spoken of as the « New City Hos-
pital.”  The total cost of the five new buildings (1875-76)
was $220,876, which included final finish and furnishings.
The planning and erection of these buildings was done
under the supervision of (George W. Pope, master builder,
and at that time President of the Trustees. Creditis in the
largest measure due to Dr. Edward Cowles, then Superin-
tendent, in the development of the hospital idea.

No further buildings were added to the Hospital group
until 1834,  During this period many improvements were
made, by tearing out old construction here and there, con-
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has nothing commendable in its architecture, but the interior
was well arranged, as dormitories for nurses were understood
in 1885. The building is four stories high, with a lower
floor above ground. Upon the main floor are two parlors,
which could be used together, or divided by sliding doors.
There is a reception-room, matron’s parlor and bedroom,
and the remainder of the first floor served as sleeping apart-
ments for the head nurses. The second, third and fourth floors
were devoted solely to bedrooms, making accommodations
for sixty-eicht nurses. The basement had a special heat-
ing apparatus for this house only, and also bada kitchen,
dining-room, store, trunk and other utility rooms. Each
story was liberally provided with baths, toilets and set
bowls. The house was well ventilated, and in spite of the
advances that have been made in our own Hospital, as
well as others, in the twenty-two years that have passed,
the Hospital was fortunate to have had so good a house,
where the nurses might live by themselves, with that
freedom for personal life, and healthy apartments, without
which they very soon break down. The transferring of
the nurses from the various unsuitable quarters in the Hos-
pital to this dormitory increased the bed space for patients,
and for a time remedied the great pressure of applicants to
the Hospital, relieving the administration force of the
unpleasant duty of rejecting suitable applicants for want of
room. During its first years this Nurses’” Home was out-
side the Hospital enclosure. But fortunately, by special
act of the State Legislature, May 14, 1889 (Acts of 1889,
. Chapter 336), the City of Boston was authorized, * for the
uses and purposes of the City Hospital, to take, from time
to time, any part or parts of that lot or tract of land in
said Boston bounded northwest by Harrison avenue, north-
east by East Concord street, southeast by Albany street
and southwest by Chester park, including any land used for
pubiic or private streets, ways or courts within said bounds "
The promoter of this project was Hon. Henry H. Sprague,
at that time a Trustee of the Hospital and a member of the
State Senate.
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well ;||i;|||11-q1 or intended. and 1E|r'_'|.' declined to take further
responsibility for cases of infectious diseases 1n the city.
This action was followed by an appropriation on the part of
the City Council of 75,000, with which two new wards were
built — Ward A for scarlet fever, and Ward E for diphthera.

These buildings are [-|'<;|'1i-';|EJ.1. alike, differing |rr|'1}.' I A

few details. T||1'_\' ocCupy the space f'-r1'|||+-1'i_x' vacant, on the

1], — BLOCKE PLAX, 1=S0-5)

medical side. between Wards T and K, and are parallel to

them, r[']||~I'-.' are |-|'-]|||l:--.'h'|| ".\ill.l []n"HI .illlt] ‘n.".'illl 1l|':' I'est uf

the H-*Hglihl] |r_1-' LWO-5T0TY corridors, the upper story hq'in-_;'
open and the lower elosed. Each I!Ill-l-ic]ih;_[ 18 138 feet long

by 42 feet wide, and has one story in the centre for 75 feet.
but the end prort ions, for 31 feet each, have two stories.

The bulldings are of brick, with granite trimminegs. The






MRT CHKO]] LNAISHTY ANOD







249 DESCRIPTION OF BUILDINGS AND GROUNDS.

mostly of annuals, old-fashioned garden flowers, with a few
specimen trees and plenty of flowering shrubs. The grounds
contain fine oak, maple, beech and pine trees. Quite an ex-
tensive portion of the grounds is ploughed and used each
year for growing fresh vegetables for the Home itself, and
for large quantities of flowers, which are sent to the Main
Hospital and to the South Department. Upon the unimproved
portion on the eastern extremity of the grounds is pasturage
enough for four cows, and a hennery, enough to produce fresh
egos for the patients at the Convalescent Home. Since the
oceupancy of this land it has enhanced very much in value,
and was a good investment for the city, whether it is used
as a Convalescent Howe or not. Obviously the house was
not large enough for a commodious home for patients, but
was rearranged and enlarged, including sleeping rooms for
servants, a kitchen, laundry, dining-room, a sun-room, coyered
piazzas, and other facilities conducive to the recovery of
health. The house accommodates thirty-four patients and
seven persons in the «family.”

The Convalescent Home was intended, and has always
been used, for women, girls and young boys; and while
patients were expected to pay for their board the same as at
the Hospital, no private accommodations were allowed, as
those who could pay for them could easily pay for board else-
where,

(tood food, pure air, amusement, rest, reasonable oeccupa-
tion, exercise, and in the summer season all the advantages
of open-air country life, under the best conditions for
renewing health and strength, have been supplied by this
Convalescent Home. The land cost %30,000;: the cost of
reconstruction of the building, grading of grounds, the
introduction of a new water supply and sewer system, with
furnishing, was 20,700 a total cost of %50,700. A more
detailed deseription of this building will be found in the
Twenty-seventh Annual Report of the Hospital for 1890,
pages 46 to 48, inclusive.
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erected an entirely new building upon the same spot. It
1s built of brick, with stone trimmings, with a Dutel
.H'l"'.'li‘ in the front elevation. It is two stories hi;_:‘]:., and 102
feet long by 60 feet wide. The first floor is divided into
two parts, an ambulance room, 52 feet long by 38 feet wide,
giving ample space for ten ambulances. Immediately in the

rear are stalls for eleven horses. The stalls are arranged

AVMBULANCE STATION,

like those of the Fire Department, so that the horses can
step quickly to their places in the ambulance. The other half
of the floor is divided into carriage, harness and duty
rooms, with an inside room and outside platform for washing
carriages. The second story, besides a hay-loft, grain-room
and storage-room for vehicles out of season, has eight bed-
rooms, sufficient for twelve men, the stable employees. and

for porters and chore men.



NEHIG,

AMEDLANCE "ARADE. — VIRIT OF ASSOCIATION OF HOsSPITAL SUPERINTENDENTS, SEPFTEMBER,
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FJ:.lll.' ﬂ[il]'!l" iH Tilli.“-l“'1| -|]| h:i]l& ]Iiiii,',|I ﬂjlli 1||f' Ll]lli”ll:‘ljtl't'
house, L';il'l'i.‘l}_{'r house and stalls have a rock-cement floor,
Special pains were taken for the disposal of the manure, and
for the ventilation of the whole building, to Ii{'t’Il the air as
pure as is possible in a stable. These accommodations sup-
plied a long delayed improvement, and they add greatly to
the efficiency of the ambulance service. New and improved
patterns of ambulances, additional horses and new styles of
harnesses and general trappings were installed. Additional
ambulance and stable men were emploved, who were put

into suitable uniforms, and the whole service was enlarged

| I_H‘I .||'|l|.I|L
LY s ]

%
\: ;" .

RELIEF STATION

: 3
f=1
-
|

and reorganized. A fire-alarm gong was installed, that the
ambulances might run to a second eall in our own district,
and to the third call anywhere in the city proper. A signal
service was arranged, so that whenever a Hospital ambulance,
il [Ilr]il't’ illll]HllFLHL‘r‘ or other vehicle ill'nll'_:hl il ll:L!irrlt to the
front gate, the Administration oftice and one of the three
ceneral divisions of the Hospital would be notified that a
patient was coming in, a litter and stretchers would be
reacdly without delay, and the proper surgical house officer

—_
=

signalled for immediate attendance.
In addition to the ambulance service proper, a wagonette

was added for taking patients from the Hospital and South
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92 DESCRIPTION OF BUILDINGS AND GROUNDS.

filtered through cloth tubes, and after being diffused throngh
the rooms is aspirated by a fan and sent out through a large
shaft in another portion of the building. This method is
expensive, but has proved to be excellent, as almost none of
the odors prevalent in pathological rooms can be detected.
Another important point is that, by filtration of the air, it is
kept free from dust and other material deleterious to the
work of this department.

MORTUARY CHAVEL.

It is unnecessary to say that no modern hospital, especially
a municipal hospital as large as the Boston City Hospital,
can be considered as bhaving proper facilities for seientific
work without well-equipped laboratories. The great extent
of the work done here, its kind, the persons enggged in it,
and the scientific discoveries made, will be given elsewhere
in this volume, and it 1s scarcely necessary to enlarge upon
this point, however gratifying it may be as a matter of pride.












—_ —

CMATLA

HYaH

ENANIMYAA] HLOS

—

il ..,,_.
45-

— i Smes e e

{
]






TP AL H____.“__.x._ AR LTI |

SLNANLN YA LGOS — 1V L LIS ] ALL) MARLEO] L







40 DESCRIPTION OF BUILDINGS AND GROUNDS.

school-room, the serving-room, sewing-room, matron’s stores
and employees’ dining-room. The third floor contains bed-
rooms for upper domestics.

LAUNDRY BUILDING.

The Laundry Building, on the main floor, furnishes two
laundries, one for the ward work and a second for * family
laundry,” separate and distinet, for officers and employees,
to guard against infection. DBoth were supplied with the
best laundry apparatus for institution purposes existing at
the time of their installment.

The upper story is divided into two distinct parts by sepa-
rate stairways — one a dormitory for male help, and the other
for female help. The lower floor has engine-room, car-
penter shop, stores and two disinfecting rooms, containing a
very large disinfector fifteen feet long and seven feet in
diameter, each end opening into two different rooms, one for
infected clothing and bedding, the other for sterile goods
after going through the sterilizer. A rubbish destructor was
placed here, where all refuse coming from the wards, includ-
ing broken food, is completely destroyed.

NURSES' HOMES, EAST AND WEST.

There are also two houses for nurses, which are in an L-
shaped building, so arranged that it is divided into two com-
plete buildings, entered at each extreme end, adjoining but
isolated from each other, by a stairway, so arranged that each
floor is separate from the other floors. By this arrangement,
six groups of nurses are able to oceupy the building without
being obliged to come intimately in contact with each other.

It was originally intended to construet a third pavilion
for measles upon the north, marked “ D™ upon the ¢ plans
of the grounds and prineipal floor,” but the expenditure npon
the whole Hospital group was very large and the matter was
deferred. This is a pressing necessity, which the Mayor
and the City Council are beginning to understand, and the
prospects now seem brighter for an additional building for
this fine group.

[t is gratifying that the reputation of this group of build-
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plans were made, and the building radically enlarged and en-
tirely reconstructed upon new and improved designs, all
bearing upon the question of antiseptic surgery.

Looking upon the principal floor plans of 1905 (see
folder), the old surgical building, including the operating
and all other rooms on the first floor, were stripped interiorly.
The buiiding was enlarged on the line opposite the Adminis-
tration Building, and also on the wing running north to East
Concord street, leaving only a narrow passage for ambu-
lances, and thence north to a line somewhat beyond old
Pavilion I, Wards B, C and D. The location of the oper-
ating amphitheatre remained the same, and was the pivotal
point of all the work of the surgical wards. Previously
square, it was now made round, which has since proved to be
not desirable as a lecture room, as there is more or less echo
under certain conditions. The floor space for general opera-
tions was larger, and the seating capacity was inereased to
174. The internal construction was so changed that, except-
ing the wooden seats for medical students, everything was
either marble, metal or glass. The walls were of hard
cement plaster. All the details cannot be here enumerated,
but the space about the operating table was increased. There
was a large evedra with seating capacity for twenty of the
Visiting Staff, wide enough to permit passing by each other
without stepping into the operating table floor space. The
room is lighted by skylights, facing the northeast, but this
method has not proved altogether successful, because they
give too much light. Upon the right of the amphitheatre
are five rooms, which serve as ether rooms, or rooms where
patients may be retained until they are wanted to be shown
at the clinics. Near the amphitheatre is a retiring room
for the surgeons.

The building is traversed by three long corridors, one from
the Administration Building to the farther point next to
[last Concord street, running the entire length of the build-
ing, 180 feet, upon either side of which are operating
rooms, recovery rooms, ete. Also the cross corridor opposite
the operating amphitheatre to Ward B was preserved.

At each side of the operating amphitheatre, under the
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two for teaching purposes, The heating and ventilating
arvangement of this whole floor, which comprises a total of
3,800 square feet, is complicated but efficient, and will be

described under the section of this paper on heating and
ventilating.

The second and third floors of this complex building are
divided into two parts, one for patients and the other as dor-

ONE OF EIGHT SMALL OPERATING Roous.
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The walls are brick, enamelled white. The floor is slate.
The culinary outfit for kitchen purposes was entirely re-
newed. A new bakery was also constructed, 32 by 20
feet, and additional bakers, ovens, and all improvements
that could be desired, were installed. There i3 a special
ice-cream room and special ice-house. A dish-washing pantry
was added, so that all the food conveyors going from the
kitchen to the wards are returned to the pantry, and are
not again used in the kitchen until after they are cleaned.
Five additional refrigerators were construeted, kept cool by the
ammonia process machine in the Mortuary Building. It is not
necessary here to give further details, but it is probably as
complete a kitchen and culinary department, with as many
feet of floor space, as can be found in any general hospital
located in a city. A fuller description of this will be found
in the Thirty-seventh Annual Report for 1901, page 60.

NEW LAUNDRY BUILDING.

In the year 1896, after the boiler-house had been trans-
ferred from the rear of the Main Hospital to the new houses
on the wharf side, the autopsy-room to the Pathological
Laboratory, and the carpenter shop to another locality, it was
possible to earry out the previous intention of tearing down
the antiquated boiler-house, and in its place to build a new
Laundry Building. This was constructed during the years
1897 and 1898, It was built of brick, with marble trimmings,
like the other new buildings of this decade, and is four
stories high. The first, second and third stories were de-
signed for laundry purposes, and the fourth story made a
dormitory for laundry women. The whole of the lower floor
was utilized as a laundry wash-room, with walls of glazed
brick and the floor of cement. The motor power for this
building is from an *Ideal ™ 36 horse-power engine. The
second story is divided into a room for two large mangles,
two drying-rooms and a distributing-room. The third floor
is mainly intended for a family wash-room and laundry, so
that the officers’ and family laundering is kept entirely sepa-
rate from the ward work. There are two iron stairways, one
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In 1901 a covered corridor was built connecting the two
houses for nurses. In the summer the glass windows are
removed and flower boxes ave placed on the sills between
colamns. In the winter the glazed windows are replaced,
and bay and boxwood plants are so placed as to suggest a
conservatory.

VOosE HOUSE. — NURSES' DINING-ROGM,

The cost of the building was $100,000, and for the furnish-
ings, including elevator, refrigerating-rooms, ete., $22,000,
and was occupied by the Training School March 19, 1900,
The work incident to the training and management of so
large a body of women was very much facilitated by these
increased accommodations., It was at the time of its oc-
cupancy, beyond question, the best equipped house for nurses
in this ecountry.,
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T0 DESCRIPTION OF BUILDINGS AND GROUXNDS.

The general arrangement of the different services can be
easily understood by a study of the plans (see five plates in
Fortieth Annual Report, 1905-1904). The consulting, exam-
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ining and dressing rooms of the different services, utility,
splint, linen and plaster rooms conform to the needs of these
services as far as space will permit. The right wing of the
first Hoor is used in the surgical division for men and boys,

AMBULANCE STATION.

Warns K, L AXD M,
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the same year a joint committee, *to whom was referred that
portion of the Mayor’s address relating to a Free City Hospi-
tal,” reported at length. The committee reviewed previous
actions, consulted many physicians and prominent citizens,

;Sn :

P

Hox., JoHs F. FITZGERALD,
Mavor of Boston, 1908,

and held a public hearing at which “ gentlemen whose voices
are rarely heard in publie, but who on this occasion felt it
their duty to express their convietions,” advocated the meas-
ure. The report compares Boston and foreign cities in the
matter of hospitals, much to the detriment of the former, and
enclosed two appendages — one signed by all the prominent
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ceeded, on March 27, 1858, in having passed a special stat-
ute, in relation to Boston, by the Massachusetts State Legis-
lature, which wuthorized the city to build and maintain a
hospital and the Council to appoint trustees for the same
(all of which had been dene four months before): and then
in a brief and almost unnoticed provision of one and one-half
lines « prohibits the erection or location of said hospital
within three hundred feet of any school or chureh now
built.” The Springfield street property adjoins a school-
house, and the embryonic City Hospital was thus aborted, as
one might say, not inappropriately in the very lap of the
Lying-In Establishment ; and two years elapsed before Bos-
ton, at the suggestion of Mayor Lincoln, conceived another
hospital.

More than two years elapsed before Mayor Lincoln,
following in the footsteps of Mayor Rice, vigorously com-
menced the work once more. At this time the effort took
somewhat the form of a « merger” sufficiently familiar to us
of the present day, and strangely enough it was doomed to
suffer the fate of not a few of the modern examples.

Following the recommendation in Mayor Lincoln’s inaugu-
ral, a joint committee was appointed, “to whom was referred
so much of the Mayor's address as relates to a Free City
Hospital.” This committee reported on July 30, 1860,
Their report stated that Dr. Henry G. Clark had prepared a
plan by which the city’s interests, those of the Boston Dis-
pensary and those of the old Boston Lying-In Hospital on
Springfield street, should be consolidated. At this time,
however, the city had no funds, the Trustees of the Boston
Dispensary decided that they could not delegate their trust,
and the Trustees of the Lying-In Establishment considered it
“ inexpedient to merge their existence or their property in
any other institution.” Dr. Clark’s plan, therefore, did not
materialize.

At this rather discouraging point of the proceedings this
same committee was directed to consider the terms of the
bequest of the late Elisha Goodnow by a vote of the City
Council. The committee had already decided that the
South End of the city was the proper place for a hospital.
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There were at first two medical and two surgical services,
distinguished from each other by the names « North™ and
“ South.,” The beds in each ward were divided equally
between them, those on one side of the ward belonging to the
North and on the other side to the South service. On the
medical side the first visit was made by Drs. J. G. Blake and
Borland, the wards being filled with vacant beds. Before
many days, however, there was a demand for even cots in
the corridors. In 1878 a * Nervous and Renal " service was
added, and in 1886 this was abolished and the three numbered
services were established, as they continue to-day. The
Department for the Diseases of Women was created in 1892,
There are at present six visiting and three assistant visiting
physicians.

The Medical Out-Patient Department was established in
1866, Dr. C. W. Swan being the first physician to out-patients.

On the surgical sides Drs. Cheever and Stedman made the
first visits on June 1, 1864. On the first Friday in June,
being the first public operating-day, Dr. Cheever did the
first surgical operation in the amphitheatre in the central
dome at 11 A.M. It was an adult male with cancer of the
commissure of the lips and cheek; excision and repair con-
stituted the operation. Dr. Gavin assisted as house surgeon,
and Dr. C. J. Blake made a water-color drawing of the
diseased parts. The same morning Dr. H. W. Williams
operated for cataract and other operations.

The two surgical services remained unchanged until July
1, 1890, when a third was added, and, as on the medieal
side, the old names, « North ™ and « South,” gave place to the
present numerical designation.

Until July, 1867, the Visiting Surgeons saw and treated
out-patients. On that date the position of Surgeon to Out-
Patients was created, and Dr. Francis C. Ropes was the first
appointment.

The surgical out-patients were treated under Ward B, i.e.,
Ward A. The room nearest Harrison avenue was the wait-
ing-room. Next came the out-patient surgeon's consulting-
room ; next, a small room for special examinations (it was a
common thoroughfare); then the large aceident-room, dark












1891.

1892,

1893,

1894,

1895.

1896,

1897,

1898.
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The new library building and house officers’ dining-
room was finished, and the old lodge was renovated
for the Surgical Out-Patient Department.

A temporary Pathological Laboratory was installed
under the library building. The new South De-
partment was commenced. The new Ambulance
Station was finished.

The Hospital exhibit at the World’s Fair received a
special prize.

Boston City Hospital Medical Club organized.

The South Department was opened, and the Pathologi-
cal Building, with the adjoining Mortuary and
Chapel, was completed.

New small operating-rooms occupied, and Wards X
and W completed. On Thanksgiving Day, Du.
Cheever opened these rooms by an operation and
a short address.

The Surgical (and Gynecological) services were
modified, discontinuing the title Out-Patient Sur-
geon and creating Senior and Junior Visiting
Surgeons and First, Second and Third Assistant
Visiting Surgeons. Electric-light plant and coal-
pocket installed.

New boiler-house completed. Surgical amphitheatre
and Wards N and O occupied. Hospital capacity
eight hundred and twenty-eight beds. The new
amphitheatre was formally opened by the trustees,
many members of the City Council being present.
One week later the first operation was done by Dr.
Cheever in the presence of the staff and a large
number of invited medical guests. In the summer
of this year the temporary Field Hospital was
established on the vacant land near the Patho-
logieal Laboratory. It consisted of tents and small
wooden structures, hence its name “Shantiago.”
Its total eapacity was one hundred and sixty beds,
and the total number of soldiers treated was six
hundred and two. The X-Ray apparatus was
installed.
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effect of the first municipal hospital at Glasgow, which, as
has just been stated, was opened on April 25, 1865, was
such in diminishing the death-rate from infectious diseases
that a large estate was purchased for hospital purposes.
On this estate was erected a pavilion hospital, capable of
accommodating some four or five hundred patients. There
was also a laundry and disinfecting plant where bed linen
used by patients ill with infections diseases treated at their

J. H. McCoLLoM, M.1.

homes could be sent to be disinfected and washed. The hos-
pital itself was opened the latter part of 1870, and is known
as the Belvidere Fever Hospital of the City of Glasgow.
The health authorities of Glasgow, not satisfied with the
hospital accommodations at Belvidere, because they were un-
able at certain times of the year to give each patient 2,000
cubic feet of air space, and because they were unable to
vacate certain wards for six months for purposes of disinfee-
tion and renovation, decided to purchase land for a second
fever hospital, known as the Ruchill Hospital, which was
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Fever Hospital, the North Eastern, the North Western, the
South Western, the Fountain, the Grove, South Eastern,
Park and Brook Fever Hospitals. What immediately at-
tracts a hospital man from this side of the water is the boun-
tiful supply of air space; 2,000 cubie feet to each patient and
fifteen feet of wall space. A second thing that also attracts
his attention is the number of vacant wards, purposely kept
vacant until an emergency arises for their use, or until the
time has come to empty a ward for disinfection and renova-
tion, a condition of things that has not been reached in this
country, In London, nine individuals out of every 10,900
of the population ean be provided with good hespital accom-
modations, 1f ill with an infectious disease.

Previous to 1888, there was no special provision in Boston
for the care of patients ill with diphtheria and scarlet fever,
but, as physicians viewed with dismay the constantly increas-
ing prevalence of these diseases, it was decided by the trus-
tees of the Boston City Hospital, in 1887, to erect two
pavilions for this special purpose.

On April 1, 1886, the following communication was sent
by the Board of Trustees of the Boston City Hospital to
the City Council. On motion of Mr. Lee, this communica-
tion was referred to the Committee on Appropriations.

To the Honorable the City Council of the City of Boston :

About a year ago, 840,000 was voted by the City Council for contagious
cases on the grounds of the City Hospital. This appropriation was
made necessary on account of the great danger to patients who were
obliged to remain in wards with contagious cases, and also on account
of the exposure of visitors who called at these wards to see relatives
and friends. When the trustees asked for £40,000, they took for a basis
what it cost the city some years before to erect two hospital buildings
of about the same dimensions of corrugated iron, and it was intended
to construct the two contagious wards of the same material. Since that
time, that is, the voting of the £40,000, the building laws have been
changed, and it is necessary that the building should be of brick, and
the walls of greater thickness than was intended. This necessitates a
greater outlay of money. Last week, sealed proposals were invited in
the usual way for the erection and finishing of the two buildings. The
bids were opened to-day, examined carefully, the lowest bids for
the different kinds of work added together, and amounted to fifty
thousand three hundred and twenty-six (50,326) dollars, It is estimated
that £3.000 additional will be needed to fornish the buildings with
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family would receive them, and no proper accommodations are anywhere
provided in the city.

The trustees are constantly under apprehension in realizing the
responsibility of the situation. They think it proper to call your atten-
tion to the existence of such facts and conditions which give frequent
rise to complicating and vexing guestions and criticisms.

The Superintendent in his report for the same year, after calling
attention to more stringent regulations and changes in the service
intended to reduce contact, again says: “ Whatever changes may be
made, the fact still remains that these wards are too intimately con-
nected with the Hospital as a whole. The city will not do its whole
duty until it shall provide a hospital for the treatment of these diseases,
apart from the rest of the Hospital, and strictly isolated. The death
rate from these diseases will remain inexeusably high in comparison
with other large communilies, especially abroad, until our community
shall better appreciate what is done elsewhere — better comprehend the
dangers of contact — and until the city is able and willing to pay for the
best means and methods,

In the report for 1890 the trustees again call attention to their experi-
ence on this subjeet, and emphasize the attention of the Mayor and
City Couneil to the conditions still existing, The report of the Super-
intendent gives facts of interest in connection with the contagious
service during the past year. The trustees desire to express once again
their convietion that it is extremely undesirable that wards for con-
tagious diseases should be maintained in direet communication with
others in which general medical and surgical cases are treated. The
facts gathered from the work of the past vear fortify them in this
opinion. Fortunately, no epidemic has come upon the Hospital, but,
nevertheless, this direct connection has been a cause of anxiety, and
has compelled the enforcement of restrictions not altogether agreeable
or desirable under other cireumstances.

The trustees have endeavored to provide every safeguard possible
under the existing condition in order to prevent the transmission of
contagion. The system of separation of services has been in operation
for six months, and beyond doubt has improved the character of the
contagious service, and greatly diminished the chances of communi-
cating disease to other parts of the Hospital. The trustees, never-
theless, fully believe that the wards for contagious diseases should be
removed to a location more remotely connected with the present group
of Hospital buildings.

The Superintendent has been constantly urging upon the Board the
necessity for the discontinnance of the present method of treating
contagious diseases, and in the report for the same year, 1800, he again
formally calls attention to this fact: *“The Superintendent desires to
again place himself on record as strongly believing that the continnanece
of wards for contagious diseases, in connection with the general wards
and services of the Hospital, is difficult of proper management, unsafe
to the Hospital foree not connected dirvectly with the work, prejudicial
to public health, and also improper and illogical from a hygienic stand-
point.  Such wards should be removed to an isolated location, and the
move cannot be made too soon,”
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for the purpose of building isolated wards on the newly acquired land
between East Chester Park and East Springfield street, now under our
jurisdiction. For financial reasons which then seemed unavoidable to
the City Council, this item was deferred. The trustees, therefore, at
this time deem it their duty to again invite your Honor's attention to
all these facts. They will use their best endeavors to meet the demands
for admission, so far as the present limitations will allow: they will
carefully regulate the management of these wards as well as it is
possible under such great and dangerous disadvantages, but they should
not be held responsible for complaints or forced rejections of
patients because the wards are already crowded, or for the communi-
cating of disease to nurses or patients when the infection comes from
causes beyond their control.

The management of these wards, under the present conditions, is
the cause of more anxiety to the trustees than all the other parts of the
Hospital. In view of all these facts, the trustees shrink from the
possibility of what may happen without calling renewed attention to the
existing dangers and responsibilities in the case,

For the purposes of constructing wards and suitable buildings
necessary for the carrying out of the plans of a new hospital for con-
tagious diseases, the trustees estimate that the sum of $150,000 will be
required, and they recommend that an appropriation of that amount be
made for that purpose.

Respectiully submitted,
For the Trustees,
A. SauMax, President pro tem,

It is an interesting fact that the Board of Trustees of the
Boston City Hospital established the first separate hospital
for the treatment of infectious diseases in this country. This
is known as the South Department of the Boston City
Hospital, and was opened for the admission of patients
August 31, 1895, A full description of the buildings will
be found in a different part of this history. A brief allusion
to them may not be inappropriate at the present time.

Owing to the fact that the site proposed for the erection
of the new buildings was somewhat limited, it became neces-
sary to so arrange these buildings that there should be as
little communication between them as possible. There are
seven buildings in this department: the Administration
Building, the Gate Lodge, Domestic Building, Laundry
Building, and the Home for Nurses, divided into two wings
so that there can be no communication between nurses in
charge of diphtheria patients and those having the charge of
scarlet fever patients. The buildings for the patients are
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black line from 1888 to 1905 should convince any one of the
beneficial effects of antitoxin treatment. The death rate of
diphtheria during 1905 was 9.39 per cent. If the deaths from
this disease occurring within swenty-four hours of admission
are eliminated the actual mortality of diphtheria amenable to
treatment for the year 1905 is found to be 7.15 per cent.

(B)
Rario or Morrarity oF IDIPHTHERIA PER 10,000 OoF
raE PoruratioN, IN Bostox, rroMm 1875 1o 1905,
INCLUSIVE.

Averace Ratlo of 1||r||'|'l,'|'|i:1:l'| fromm 1575 to 1550, 14.61.
Average Ratio of Mortality from 1305 (o 1805, 6,

The diminution in the death rate of intubation cases as
shown by the broken line shows conclusively the effect of
antitoxin in this type of the disease. The ratio of mortality
in laryngeal diphtheria requiring operative interference from
1888 to 1894, in pre-antitoxin days, based on 634 intubations,
is 82,49 per cent., as compared with 39.24 per cent. from
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tively high one is noticeable. Since 1895 the ratios are lower
than in previous years, but there is still a certain amount of
variation. From 1902 to 1905, inclusive, there has been a
diminution each year in therate. It is a significant fact that
since 1895 there has been no general epidemic of the disease
as compared with previous years. For instance, in 1892 there

(D)

BaTio oF MORTALITY OF SCARLATINA PER 10,000 o THE POPULA
TION, 1N BosTOoN, FOR SINTY-S51X YEARS, 1840 To 1905, INCLUSIVE,
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Sinee 1805, when the Hospital wag opened, there hag been no general epidemic of
grarlating, in Boston, as compared with previons VEArs,

was a slight epidemic of the disease, the ratio of mortality
per 10,000 being five and a fraction. If we go back to 1876
we find that the ratio was thirteen per 10,000, and on going
back to 1857 the ratio was twenty-four: in 1849 it was
twenty-four: and in 1842 it was twenty-six per 10,000,
While there has been no discovery regarding the treatment
of searlet fever, such as the antitoxin of diphtheria, yet the

diminution in the mortality can be explained by the dimin-
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tion in the mortality rate of the eleven years from 1895 to
1905, inclusive, as compared with 1892, 18903 and 1894,
The average ratio of morbidity from 1885 to 1894, inclusive,
is J4.84; the average ratio of mortality for the same time is
2.99. The average ratio of morbidity from 1895 to 1905,
inclusive, is 24.25; the average ratio of mortality for the
same time is 1.53.

It is not to be expected that scarlet fever can be eradi-
cated, because there are always in the community a great
number of mild and unrecognized attacks of the disease,
which serve as foci for its spread. It must be evident, how-
ever, from a study of the foregoing statisties, that the preva-
lence of scarlet fever has very much diminished since the
openting of the South Department, as there has been no gen-
eral and widespread epidemic of the disease since 1895,

It is not to be expected that special wards can prevent
outbreaks of measles, for such is the intensely infectiouns
nature of the disease that it spreads very rapidly before a
diagnosis can be made; but much suffering may be pre-
vented and many lives can be saved by the treatment of
patients in hospital, seriously ill with measles. Although
the accommodations at the South Department for this disease
are very limited, yet an attempt has been made to provide,
even at the risk of overcrowding, for those persons seriously
ill with measles.

Since 1807, 888 patients seriously ill with measles have
been refused admission for lack of room. The summary of
rejections for the different years is as follows: For the finan-
cial year ending January 31, 1897, 1; for the year ending
January 31, 1898, 86 ; .fm' the year ending January 31, 1899,
26 ; for the year ending January 31, 1900, 266 ; January 31,
1901, 155 January 31, 1902, 209 ; January 31, 1903, 31;
January 31, 1804, 59 ; for the year ending January 31, 1905,
36, and for the year ending January 31, 1906, 19, making a
total of 888. It is noticeable that the number of rejections
varies greatly, depending upon the type of the disease and
its prevalence; for instance, in one year there were no
accommodations for 266 patients; in a second year 209
patients were refused admission for want of room, while in






150 HISTORY OF SOUTH DEPARTMENT.

these elinies the importance of an early diagnesis in infectious
diseases has been strongly emphasized. Great stress has
been laid upon the importance of bacteriological examina-
tions in cases of suspected sore throat; the necessity of
cultures where there is a persistent nasal discharge and the
importance of cultures after apparent recovery from diph-
theria have been inculeated.

The probability of heart complications in diphtheria and
the possibility of their occurrence in scarlet fever have been

Fia. 1.

carefully explained to the students and illustrated by patients
in the wards.

The duty of a physician having care of a patient ill with
an infectious disease, the public health laws and the duties
and responsibilities of health officers have been empha-
sized.

It must be borne in mind that the Boston City Hospital in
1888 offered the first opportunity in this country for the

systematic clinical study of infectious diseases. Since the



McCOLLOM. 151

opening of the South Department the teaching in infectious
diseases has been greatly extended owing to the increase in
the amount of elinical material.

As the average age of patients at the South Department
is nine years, the clinical instruction is a part of the course in
Pediatrics at the Harvard Medical School.

During the past ten years health officers, city oflicials and
members of the faculties of medical colleges in this country
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have visited the South Department in order to become
familiar with the construction of the buildings, the treatment
of the patients and the methods of instruction adopted.

In accordance with a wise regulation of the trustees no
visiting is permitted except to patients dangerously ill, in
which case the friends of the patients are allowed to see them
for a greater or less length of time, depending on the individ-
ual conditions. In this respeet private patients have no
greater privileges than ward patients. [t is certainly a
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matter for congratulation, and redounds to the eredit of the
house staff of the South Department, that during the ten
years and four months that the hospital has been in operation
no patient has died without netification of his dangerous
condition being sent to the friends, except in instances where
patients died within one hour or two after admission. If the
treacherous nature of diphtheria is taken into account, and
the possibility of sudden renal complications in scarlet fever

18 considered, it is evident that the house staff cannot have
been negligent in the observation of the patients under their
charge.

The condition of patients i1s always given in answer to
telephone messages, to a certain extent, but it is impossible
on the telephone to give a satisfactory account of each
individual case.

In the London hospitals, and particalarly in the Glasgow
hospitals, the nurses in charge of the patients see the friends
and answer all mmquiries. At the South Department the
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ties for doing it. The result is that in place of one small,
inaccessible operating room in the cupola, we now have ten up-
to-date rooms on the ground floor furnished with all the modern
conveniences for doing the best surgical work of the day.

The use of antitoxin in the treatment of diphtheria has
been brought to a degree of perfection in this Hospital that
is second to none other in this country. The process comes
as near being a perfect specific as we shall probably ever
see in the management of any disease. An account of its
marvellous results will be found elsewhere in this volume.

It having been demonstrated to the community that con-
tagions affections have better facilities for proper treatment
in a well-appointed hospital than in the ordinary home, a
larger proportion of the cases in this city are sent to the
Hospital than ever before, thus calling for more room. This
demand was so urgent that seven large buildings were erected
adjacent to the Hospital, and are known as the «South De-
partment of the Boston City Hospital.” They furnish aeccom-
modations for upwards of 300 patients, and have proved
to be one of the most important departments of the institution.

Three homes for nurses have been erected in recent
years capable of furnishing comfortable quarters to 160
inmates, and are acknowledged to be a most valuable addition
to the Hospital.

Another important addition to the institution is the Relief
Station in Haymarket square. While it has been open only
about two years, yet during the past twelve months over
27,000 persons received first aid within its walls, thus dem-
onstrating its great usefulness in that part of the ecity.

Besides the above mentioned buildings many others have
been erected to keep pace with the ever increasing demand
for better facilities, among which attention may be called to
two large out-patient buildings, several wards, K, L. and M
being especially noticeable, the medical library, pathological
building, mortnary and mortuary chapel, laundry and engine-
room, kitchen and bakery, cold storage and ice plant, electric
light and power plant, the largest heating plant in New Eng-
land, and also one of the largest ambulance services in the
country, ete., ete.
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many years, and saves abont sixty thousand dollars annually
to the city.

The City of Boston has been peculiarly fortunate in the
character of the men chosen to manage its great munieipal
Hospital. Faithful, zealous, high-minded, never losing sight
of the humanitarian objects for which the Hospital was
created, and serving withont compensation, they deserve the
highest commendation of the community for the noble work
that they have done in caring for the sick and injured people
committed to their charge.

That they have possessed the confidence of the city govern-
ment is made evident by the large sums of money that have,
from time to time, been appropriated to carry on the work,
and to develop and maintain the institution in the front rank
of municipal hospitals of this country. They have conducted
it upon the broad and generous plan of doing the greatest
good to the greatest number compatible with the purposes
for which the Hospital was established and is supported.

The confidence of the public has also been manifested in a
most encouraging manner, as shown by the number of legacies
made to the institution. They now amount to over four hun-
dred thousand dollars. These gifts are particularly gratifying
from the fact that municipal institutions, supported by
taxation, are not as likely to be the recipients of donations
as are the private charities,

The following list comprises the names of all those gentle-
men who have served upon the Board of Trustees during the
first forty years, supplemented by a brief sketch of those who
were on the first Board, and also of those who have acted as
President or Seeretary of the Board.

Trustees of the Boston City Hospital from 1863 to 1904 ;

Appointed, In Ofice.

Thomas C. Amory, Jr., President. (Alderman) . 1863 1 Year.
Otis Norcross, President. (Alderman) i . 1863 4 Years,
Joseph Buckley. (Common Council) . > . 1863 1 Year.
Luecius A. Cutler, (Common Couneil) ; . 1863 R
David H. Coolidge, Secretary. (Common Coun-

cil) k : : g : - » . 1863 B Years.
Theodore Metcalf. (At Large) . - . . 1863 g W

Sumner Crosby. (At Large) : ; : . 1863 g =












172 TRUSTEES OF THE HOSPITAL.

Mr. Norcross died in Boston, September 5, 1882, of heart
disease, and was buried at Mt. Auburn.

Mi. Davip H. CooLIDGE, the only surviving member of
the first Board of Trustees of the City Hospital, was born in
Boston in 1833, was graduated from Harvard College, studied
law and was admitted to the Suffolk Bar in 1857. M.
Coolidge was a member of the City Council in 186364, and
was one of the three gentlemen chosen to represent that
body on the first Board of Trustees. He was on the Board
six years, and served as the first Secretary. He was a mem-
ber of the Legislature in 1865. He held the office of
Director and Clerk of the Home for Aged Men for forty-
three years, and for many years occupied a similar position
in the Boston and Sandwich Glass Company, has been a
Director in the Mattapan Deposit and Trust Company since
its formation, and for fifteen years was Commissioner of
Insolvency. IHe served this Hospital faithfully and well in
its formative period, and his records testify to the large
amount of most excellent work done here.

Dr, WiLniam RicHARDS LAWRENCE was born in Boston
in 1812, He was educated at the Lawrence Academy in
Groton, the Dummer Academy in Byfield, the oldest in the
State, the Boston Latin School, and in Europe. He was
abroad four years, and saw a good deal of the revolution in
Paris in 1830, when Charles X. was dethroned and Louis
Phillipe was made King. On his return to this country he
entered the counting-room of Messrs. A. & A. Lawrence, but
soon gave up business, and began the study of medicine at the
Harvard Medical School, from which he was graduated in
- 1844, After « walking the hospitals " of Europe a year or
more, he returned to his native city, and established a hos-
pital for children on the “neck ™ in the vicinity of Washing-
ton street and Union Park. He conducted this useful
charity suceessfully for some years.

Dr. Lawrence was much interested in the City Hospital,
and gave freely of his time and energies during its organiza-
tion and the first two years of its existence. He rendered
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well-known « Metealf's Apothecary Store,” at 39 Tremont
street, the present site of the successors to the business.

Various positions of trust were filled by Mr. Metealf, but
none interested him more than his service as trustee of this
Hospital. He was on the board nine years, and was Secre-
tary a part of the time. Thoroughly honest, upright, pune-
tual and patient, alive to the best interests of the Hospital, he
won the confidence and esteem of his colleagues and the
respect of the community.

Juix T. BRADLEE.

JouN TispaLe Brapreg, Esq., was born in Boston in
1837. He is a merchant, and has long been connected with
important institutions in this city. He came upon the Board
of Trustees the yvear the Hospital was opened, and rendered
most faithful service for eight years, being president of the
Board five years. Mur. Bradlee always took great interest in
the Hospital, and devoted much time to it while on the
Board, even attending the Sunday services held for the
patients and other residents in the Hospital.
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one ever received at that institution with the exception of
Rufus Choate, and perhaps one or two others. His marks
were perfect throughout the entire course of four years.

Mr. Field graduated from the Harvard Law School and
was admitted to the Suffolk Bar in 1860, He was Assistant
United States Attorney in 1865-9, and Assistant Attorney-
General 1869-T0. Leaving Washington in the latter year
he returned to Boston, and entered the law firm of Jewell,
Gaston & Field, and resumed practice. In 1881 he was
appointed Judge of the Supreme Judicial Court, and in 1890
was made Chief Justice of the same. He was a member of

, the School Committee in 1865—4, of the Common Couneil in
1865-T, and was a Representative in Congress two years.

He came to this Hospital as trustee from the Common
Council in 1865, and held the position for three years, serv-
ing as secretary of the Board a part of that time.

WirniaMm ArpLETON Rust, M.D., was born in Gorham,
Me., in 1823, educated in the academy of that town, and
graduated from the medical department of the University of
New York in 1846. He practised medicine several years in
South Paris, Me., was a trustee of the State Reform School,
and United States Inspector of Internal Revenue.

In 1865 he came to Boston and entered the firm of Rust
Brothers & Bird, wholesale druggists, in Hanover street,
where he remained until 1890, He has been a member of
the Legislature, and of the School Board for ten years. He
has also been a director in the Blackstone Bank, the Metro-
politan Railroad Company, and Vice-President of the Boston
Penny Savings Bank. Dr. Rust was a trustee of the City
Hospital for six years, and secretary of the Board for some
time.

Hox. A. SHUMAN, one of Boston’s most progressive, liberal

and philanthropic men, has been a member of the Board of

. Trustees for twenty years, and President of the Board for
fifteen years.

He is the founder and senior member of the firm of

A. Shuman & Co., at the corner of Washington and Summer
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Boston Fruit companies, of the former of which he was one
of the organizers.

Mr. Burnham was much interested in military affairs, and
held several important positions in the state militia. At
various times he was president of the following bodies:
Boston Chamber of Commerce, Boston Associated Board of
Trade, Boston Lighterage and Towing Company, Roxbury Cen-
tral Wharf, Commercial Club of Boston. Was director in Me-
chanies National Bank and in the Boston Merchants’ Associ-
ation. He was generous in many ways to his native town of
Essex, and was a public-spirited citizen of the best type. He
was by far the largest individual benefactor this Hospital has
ever had, in that he left it one hundred and fifty thousand
(150,000) dollars for a new building, which will bear testi-
mony to his great generosity for all time. He was a trustee
for six years, giving much time and thought to the Hospital.

In 1880, he married Miss May A. Wood of Lowell, who
survives him, and who is interested in all of her husband’s
charitable plans. Mr. Burnham died in 1902,

CoXrAD J. RUETER, Esq., was born in Boston in 1863,
Educated in German schools and the Roxbury Latin Sehool.
Was graduated from Harvard University in 1884, admitted to
Suffolk Bar in 1886. Afterwards studied in the University
of Bonn, and settled in Boston, where he is now practising
law. Has been a trustee of the Hospital since 1895, and is
now secretary of the Board,

IFraxcis J. KEaxy, M.D., was born in Boston in 1866.
Edncated at the public schools, and was graduated from Boston
College in 1888 and from Harvard Medical School in 1892,
He studied dermatology in Enrope three years, and has since
been in practice in this city. He has been a trustee of this
Hospital since 1897, Is Dermatologist at the Carney Hos-
pital, and is on the Consulting Staff at St. Elizabeth’s
Hospital.

Epyuxp DwicHT CopmAN, son of Robert and Catherine C.
(Hurd) Codman, was born in Boston in 1864,  Was graduated
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the College of Physicians and Surgeons in New York in
1863, He at once joined the Medical Corps of the United
States Army, and served in various places and capacities for
nine years. He served in the Army of the Potomac until
the close of the war, and was then for a time PPost Surgeon
at Fort Warren. Later he was assistant in the medical
director’s office at General Sheridan’s headquarters in New

Orleans.

Epwarp COwLES, M.

For two years Dr. Cowles was Medieal Director of the
military district of the Rio Grande in Texas, where he went
through an epidemic of cholera, and also one of yellow fever,
from the latter of which diseases he suffered a severe attack
that nearly cost him his life. After serving as Post Surgeon
at Fort Preble for a couple of years he resigned from the
army, settled in South Boston and began private practice.

Dr. Cowles was at once appointed to the position of wvisit-
ing physician to the Carney Hospital, but before he had been
in practice many months he was elected superintendent of
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at Phillips Exeter Academy. He was graduated from Dart-
mouth College in 1864, and from the Harvard Medical School
in 1869, He served as *house pupil” at the Hartford
Retreat for the Insane, was associate superintendent at the
Massachusetts School for Feeble-Minded Children, assistant
physician at the Pennsylvania Hospital for the Insane, under
Dr. Thomas H. Kirkbride in Philadelphia, and was assistant
superinlendent at the Boston Lunatic Hospital in South
Boston when elected to the superintendency of the Boston

City Hospital in June, 1879,

GEORGE H. M. RowEg, M.,

Many important changes have taken place in the institu-
tion during Dr. Rowe’s incumbeney of this position extending
over a quarter of a century. Two of the most important
discoveries ever made in the medical world have taken place
within the past twenty-five years. One is the antiseptic
treatment of wounds, and the other is the use of antitoxin
in the treatment of diphtheria. Both of these methods of
treatment have been brought to the highest state of pro-
ficiency in this Hospital through the earnest and intelligent
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more than in operative surgery.  His insight was wonderftully
keen, and his intuitive appreciation of the patients’ real con-
dition was remarkable. It was a privilege to visit with him,
and close companionship with him was an edueation. Hon-
esty, justice, conscience were the moving springs of his life.
Abrupt, and often regardless of the convenances of polished
society, he was rugged, firm and true.

Dr. D. MeB. Thaxter, at the age of thirty-six, entered

CHARLES H. STEDMAN, M.D,

service as a full surgeon, having previously been a general
practitioner. He remained eight years, until he died.

A chronie affection rendered him unable to do his service
at the Hospital for nearly two years before his death., He
was faithful to the Hospital, but perhaps overburdened by
too numerous duties,

Dr. Charles D. Homans at thirty-eight years of age
brought to the Surgical Staff of the City Hospital a good
surgical training and proclivities, and a remarkable common
sense. He remained in service twenty-one years. He had
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more common sense than many I have met. He did a great
deal of surgery in the Hospital. He was always on hand,
and very punctilious in his duties. We shall long miss his
good advice and counsel.

From 1866 to 1884 the Hospital was well served by Dr.
William H. Thorndike, who entered the staff at the age of
forty-two. With his early training he combined a practice
isolated, and often the scene of emergencies and accidents.

C., E. BUCKINGHAM, M. 1D,

He became a thoroughly self-reliant surgeon, both from the
necessity of his position and from natural force of character.
He was, of those who have died, the best surgeon, the most
thorough, the boldest and best operator. He did many
unusual operations, IHe was one of the earliest to open a
deep appendicular abscess; he tied the iliac; he removed a
paving stone from the peritoneal cavity with success; he tied
the gluteal in its aneurismal sac. He was cool, t\'ell-pniseﬂ,
quiet: a calm worker, and always up to the task before him.
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Dr. George Derby ripened late, entering the army when
past forty, and thenceforward developing those active pro-
fessional traits which made him a good military surgeon,
and, above all, an authority on hygiene and sanitation, He
remained with us only two years.

Dr. Francis C. Ropes, at thirty years of age, and a young
man of great promise, entered our staff, but in one year was

cut off by death. His brief service was pleasant and useful

[. MCE,. THAXTER, M.[},

to all. Had he lived, he would have developed into an
enterprising surgeon.

Dr. William C. B. Fifield received his appointment at
forty-one years of age and served fifteen years. He had
taken the degree of the Royal College of Surgeons, and
he was trained in the London Hospital. He was an
omnivorous reader and student. Possessed of a remarkable
memory, his knowledge was too encyclopiedic for prompt
condensation ; for, after all, the surgeon must find within
himself those resources which result from well-digested obser-
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vation. As a consultant, Dr. Fifield could refer you to end-
less authorities and cases. A ready and witty talker, he
enriched his teaching with apt anecdotes, and he was one of
the kindest of men to bis patients.

Dr. William Ingalls joined the Surgical Staff at fifty-
SevVel years of age, and served thirteen yoars. He was then
placed on the Consulting Board. [Drofessional spirit was

with him a religion. A calm adviser, a gentle friend, pre-

C. Id, Homaxns, M. D

cise, punctilious, careful, he gave a conscientious service to
the Hospital.

born in 1821, Dr. Henry Willard Williams entered late on
his medical studies, and was graduated from the Medical
School of Harvard University in 1849,  Previous to this he
had been engaged in literary and commercial pursuits, and
was identified with the anti-slavery movement and with their
_iilll['tltl]. called the # Liberator.”

Starting at twenty-nine years of age, he practised for forty-

six vears. Decoming a specialist on the eye, he first laid the
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Conservative by temperament, he was long identified with
the Massachusetts Medical Society ; he served two years as
its President. The following estimate of his many virtues
is taken from the obituary resolutions of the City Hospital
staff :

“ By the death of Dr. Henry W. Williams the Staff of
the Boston City Hospital loses one of its founders, its

WILLIAM INGALLS, M.D.

President for many vears, and one of its most brilliant
members. DPatient assiduity in every duty, however labori-
ous, thorongh self-reliance, confident boldness, double dexterity
as an operator, these were Dr. Williams' characteristies.

“He was the most punectual and the most painstaking of
presiding officers, persistent yet prudent, genial and tactful.

“ His energy and foresight did much to place this Hospital
in its present enviable position. And we shall long miss
and regret his counsel and his friendship.”
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The one guiding impulse of all our deceased colleagues
was professional loyalty und harmony as a staff. This was
truly remarkable, and I fear may be exceptional.

Hos olim meminisse juvabit,

HESRY W, WILLTaMz, M.D.

Here follow the names of those House Officers, Medical
and Surgical, who died on duty in the Hospital :

Dr. Bridgmann i

De. T. H. Carter . . . . 1800
Dr. J. H. Converse . ., . 1905
Dr. Arthur Foster . . . 1873
Dr. Alfred T. Huntington, 1809
Dir. John B. Novton . . 1901
Dr, W. . Stebbins . . . 1803
De. Lo W. Tuek - + . . 1888

Scarlet fever,
Heart failure.
Cerebro-spinal meningitis.

Septicemia.
Diphtheria.
Diphtheria.

Dr. Theron Harlow Carter died Oectober 14, 1899, He
died suddenly in bed, while in sleep, it is supposed. January,
1894, to July, 1895, Third Medical House Officer. Execu-
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sick people, until new boilers were introduced and the fan
was used with regularity.

For the first days the number of patients admitted was
very few, and the visiting physicians and house officers had
but little work to do. Gradually, however, the publie be-
came aware that the Hospital was ready to receive cases, and
VETY 80011 lllU]l' WEereg 1no Il]l1}¢'l'l]lJLi’ll heds. T]n' line ht-i".‘l't't"ll.

acute, chronic and incurable diseases was not very finely

E & . .=

JUHN (v, BLAKE, M._1b,

drawn in hospital practice in those days. The first few
years the public feeling was that the Hospital was to treat
sick people regardless of what their disease might be, and at
every stage curable and incurable patients were sent there.
This view of the uses of a hospital was not new in this
community, one institution at least (the Carney) feeling
that diserimination among sick people was not in accordance
with its idea of genuine charity. The larger number, how-
ever,were cases of acute disease, and it has long since become

known that the original intent of the Hospital was for this
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c¢lass. The absence of other institutions also l.'ll-llljll'”"'i the
admission, for a limited time, of cases of chronic disease.
Outside of the Massachusetts General and the Carney (then
only a very small affair containing not more thirty beds) this
was the only hospital in Boston.  There were several small
homes, not exactly hospitals, like the Channing Home for
example, where cases of advanced lahlhiﬁir: were received and

cared for indefinitely,

A, LAWRENCE Mason, M.D

With a city population of 150,000, the capacity of the
Hospital was soon reached. While intended for purely
« medical " cases, the medical department received many dis-
eases which would not now be so classed, as, for example,
uterine and pelvic disease, and also appendicitis. Traumatic
and [mtimlngiml surgery, with cases for operation, went of
course to the surgical side. Membranous croup was a medi-
cal disease until tracheotomy was required, and it was then
transferred. No division was made of nervous and renal
diseases until later,
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Surgery has invaded the physician’s province greatly during
the past forty years, and appendicitis, gastric ulcer, the
diseases of the pancreas, have become largely surgical.

The college teaching force then was small, and the sub-
divisions since introduced did not exist. Many excellent
instructors were left out, and could only show their power of
teaching to the students who made visits with them. There
are no more eager learners than a class of medical students.

Jomnx C, DarTox, M.,

They quickly find the man who has a genius for teaching, and
follow him. The large numbers that locked to the Hospital
showed that they found men who interested as well as
instructed them. For twenty-five years clinical visits were
made by both surgical and medical staffs. Since the reor-
cganization of teaching the general « visits” have been sub-
divided into small classes and restricted to the men who are
teachers in the schools.

The medical staff consisted of Drs. Morland, Oliver,
Upham, Borland, Blake and John Homans. Dr. John C.
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to the Consultation Staff in 1866, and served until his death
in 1868, at the age of seventy-four years.

Dr. WiLniaMm WALLACE MORLAND was born at Salem in
1818. He entered  Dartmouth College at the age of sixteen
and was graduated in 1838.  Three years later he obtained his
medical degree at Harvard and went abroad to continue his
studies. On his return to Boston he practised with success,

Jons Homaxs, M.D.

but found time to indulge his taste for scientific study. In
1855, Dr. Morland and Dr. Minot were associated with Dr.
J. V. C. Smith, who had long held the position of editor of
The Boston Medical and Surgical Journal.  Under the com-
petent management of the new editors the Journal rapidly
improved, and Dr. Smith resigning two years later, they
edited it alone with increasing success till their resignation
in 18G0.  Dr. Morland contributed many articles to its pages
and was an excellent reviewer, acute, sound and interesting.
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Dr. Jou~ NELsON BorLAND was born in Boston in 1828,
Was graduated from Yale College in 1847, studying medicine
in the Tremont Street Medical School, Dr. Borland received his
medical degree from Harvard University in 1850 and became
a house officer in the Massachusetts General Hospital. He
was appointed one of the first Visiting Physicians of the Bos-
ton City Hospital. From 1869 to 1873 he was instructor of

J. N, BORLAND, M.D,

('linical Medicine in the Medical School of Harvard Univer-
sity.  Dr. Borland was well known and greatly beloved in
Boston. His cordiality of manner, his fine presence, his
genial disposition made him a favorite wherever and in what-
ever relation his influence was exerted. He was a skilful
practitioner, and his social gifts and gentle sympathy en-
deared him to his patients whether rich or poor. He was an
active member of Boston medical societies and a devoted
student of his profession. His memory will nowhere he
more affectionately recalled than at Nahant, among whose
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residents and summer visitors he practised in the most ser-
vieeable and conscientious manner for a long series of years.
Dr. Borland retired from practice in 1878, and after that
time resided in New London, Conn. He died in 1890, after
a long illness, and left behind him the example of an honored

physician, an upright gentleman and a loyal friend.

J. B, Urnam, M.D,

Dr. J. BaAxTEr UpHAM was born in Claremont, N. H.,
was graduated from Dartmouth in 1842, and at the Harvard
Medieal School in 1847, 'EJI'iI['TiSl_"lI medicine i Boston until
the outbreak of the Civil War, and then joined the army and
served through the war as a surgeon under General Burnside.
After the war he resumed practice in Boston, and was for
several years a Visiting Physician at the Doston City Hospi-
tal. He was a most kindly and sympathetic man and loved
his hospital work to a high degree. His visits were sun-
shine to the patients, and this he left behind him in their

memories when he 111'1:;L!'I|‘:i. He continued on the staff for
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many years, and then he moved to New York, where he died
on March 17, 1893, He kept up a keen interest in the Hos-
pital until death, and one of his last letters was to the
present writer. A finer type of the high bred, courteous,
humane gentleman and physician could not be found than
Dr. Upham. He contributed many valuable papers on the
disenses common to camp life. He was for several yvears
President of the Handel and Haydn Soeiety, and it was through

Firon Ep. OLIvER, M. D,

his efforts that the great Music Hall organ, one of the largest
and finest in the world, was constructed. To the musical
people of Boston Dr. Upham’s memory will long remain a
delightful one.

Dr. Frren Epwarp OLiver (born 1819, died 1892) was
Visiting I’hysician to the Hospital for twelve years, from
1863 to 1875, and was subsequently a member of the Con-
sulting Board. He graduated at Dartmouth College in 1839,
at the Harvard Medical School in 1843, and then passed
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with him at the Carney Hospital and for many years at the
City. There are pleasant memories of a trip taken with him
and others to Alexandria and Fairfax Court House in 1862,
In politics he was an ardent abolitionist. He remarked to
the writer, on the Southern trip mentioned above, that
Wendell Phillips was a pro-slavery man in politics compared
with himself. Nobody who knew him well questioned his
convictions on this subject.

HENRY 1. BowDITCH, M. 1D,

Dr. John Ware and Dr. Edward Reynolds, both wvery
eminent men, served the Hospital, in its beginning, as Con-
sulting Physicians.

Dgr. Joux WAaARE died at the age of sixty-eicht years on
April 29, 1864. He was the son of Rev. Henry and Mary
(Clarke) Ware, and was born in Hingham, Mass., December
19, 1795. His father was for several years minister in
Hingham and was afterwards Hollis Professor of Theology
in Cambridge. His mother was daughter of Rev. Jonas
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of the American Academy of Arts and Sciences, During
the year 1828 he was one of the editors of the Boston
Medical and Surgical Journal.

Di. Epwarp REyxoLps, in his day one of the most
eminent physicians of Boston, was elected to the staff of the
Hospital as Consulting Physician and Surgeon in 18G4, He
served ten years. When a young man it was not easy to

EDWARD RETYNOLDSE, M.,

obtain a complete medical education in this country, and he
spent several vears in Europe attending the lectures of
Abernethy, Astley Cooper, Dupuytren, Bichat and others.
In conjunction with Dr. John Jeffries he assisted in institut-
ing the Eye and Ear Hospital and also a private infirmary
for the treatment of diseases of the eye in Scollay square.
He delivered the lectures on anatomy and surgery in the
Harvard Medical School during the absence of Dr, John C.
Warren in Europe, and was a teacher of surgery in the Tre-
mont Medical School. A friend of young llli'ﬁ. he was alwavs
ready to aid and assist by counsel, and was an unusual
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some years of life in the far West he studied medicine at the
University of Pennsylvania, where he took his degree in 1543,
and subsequently served as house physician in the Philadel-
phia Hospital. He then passed two fruitful years in France,
England and Ireland, which well qualified him to enter upon
his active and useful career.

Dr. Lyman was one of those consulted as to the organ-

ization and construction of the City Hospital, and in 1864 he

GEORGE H. LyMax, M.D.

was asked to be a member of the first visiting staff, a position
which he then declined, as he was serving in the army of the
Civil War. He was, however, appointed Visiting Physician
in 1871, and acted in that capacity for twenty years with
characteristic devotion and ability. With a fine, positive,
but at the same time sympathetic, bearing, his visits to the
wards were always cheering and encouraging to his patients.
He was skilful and untiring in the investigation of obscure
and doubtful cases of disease, and full of therapeutic resource
in their relief. Gyn®cology claimed his special attention,
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and in earlier life he had made two notable contributions to
that branch of medical knowledge, viz., a Boyvlston Prize
Essay in 1854, on « Non-malignant Diseases of the Uterus ™ ;
and in 1856 an essay on “The History and Statistics of
Ovariotomy,” ete., to which was awarded the prize of the
Massachusetts Medical Society.

This latter essay was in advance of the then prevailing
opinion as to the treatment of ovarian tumors.

GEORGE J, ARNOLD, M.D,

At the outbreak of the Civil War, Dr. Lyman, then in his
prime, at the age of forty-two, had offered his services to the
State. He was soon appointed brigade surgeon in the regu-
lar army, and held the first commission of this rank issued
by President Lincoln, on the recommendation of the Medical
Examining Board, under a new act of Congress (1861).
Thereafter he was in active service four and a half years as
Surgeon of Division, Medical Director of the Fifth Army
Corps, and finally as one of eight Medical Inspectors
appointed by the President with the rank of Lieutenant-
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Dr. GeorgeE HoLMmEeEs Bixpy was born in 1837, at Pari-
maribo, South America, where his father was United States
consul., He received his education at Williams College and
at the Dartmouth and Harvard Medical Schools. He also
studied in Vienna and Paris. He served in various capacities
throughout the Civil War, Later he took up gynweology
as a specialty, and was associate founder and editor with Dr.
Horatio R. Storer of the * Gynmcological Journal,” was a

Wi, READ, M.D,

member of various medical societies and contributed many
articles to medical journals. His later years were spent in a
condition of invalidism, which prevented the active practice
of his profession. He died in Boston, February 28, 1901.

Dr. Orranno Witnersroox Dog (born 1843, died 1890
was attached to the Hospital during his whole professional
career, as House Physician 1868-69, Physician to Out-Patients
1870-75, and Visiting Physician from 1875 until his death
fifteen years later. He was graduated from Harvard College
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in 1865 and from the Medical Department in 1869, later
passing a year of study in Europe.

Dr. Doe had a commanding figure and presence, with a
calm and dignified bearing. A generous and sympathetic
nature, combined with wide experience and mature judg-
ment, won the confidence and regard of his patients to an
unusual degree.

0. W. Dog, M.D,

To the house officers of the hospital and to the young
physicians of his acquaintance he was always considerate
and helpful with advice and assistance. He was especially
skilful in gynwecological and in thoracie surgery, in those
days when the general practitioner felt called upon to assume
the charge of many ailments which now oftener fall into the
hands of the specialist. As Clinical Instructor in Gyn-
cology in the Harvard Medical School, he made valuable use
of the Hospital material at his command.

Dr. Doe gave to the Hospital the benefit of his skill and
resourcefulness during the years of his greatest activity,
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when the exigencies of a large private practice were a tax
upon his time and endurance. His premature death at the
age of forty-seven was deeply deplored. A rapidly fatal
attack of pneumonia was induced by exposure on a stormy
winter's night, while caring for his patients in the extensive
epidemic of influenza, then a new disease to this generation.

Dr. Doe was a councillor of the Massachusetts Medical

A. M. SunMNER, M.D,

Society and an active member of several other medical soci-
eties, to which he made frequent contributions.

Dr. ArLLexy MgeraxernoNx SuMNER (born 1844, died
1901) was Visiting Physician to the Hospital for a period of
twenty years, from 1879 to 1898, He was a graduate of
the Lawrence Scientific School and of the Harvard Medical
School (1868). His studies were then pursued for several
years in London, Paris and Vienna. Thus he was well
equipped for the general practice of medicine and received
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addressed them very pleasantly on their privileges and duties
to themselves, to their profession and to the patients and the
Hospital. It was an admirable custom, and has of late years,
after a long lapse, been resuscitated, and is now kept up hy
a member of the staft to the very great benefit of the Hos-
pital, the patients and the profession,

The writer's first acquaintance with the City Hospital
began in the winter of 1864-5, when with thirty or

GEORGE W, Gav, M. D,

forty students he made a wisit 1n the wards with Dr.
John Homans, Sr., one of the visiting physicians. The
clinic was conducted in the manner in vogue at that
time, Jand would hardly be tolerated at present in any
well-conducted hospital. The visiting physician or surgeon
was fusually given the right of way by courtesy, buf
with Tthe students it was every one for himself. They
crowded about the beds as best they could, that they might
see and hear what was said and done. Often the less
energetic or the indifferent ones on the outside of the circle,
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will never forget a poor fellow in the basement under Ward
B, who had a fracture of the pelvis and a rupture of the
bladder. We drew his water every two lLours, night and day,
for two weeks., At that time we slept in C private room,
and it seems as if we would get up, go down two flights,
draw the water and go back to bed without waking up !

In those days the internes were routed out of bed nearly
every night to attend to accidents, see patients in an emer-

Jonx JEFFRIES, M.D,

gency, or to give instructions to the night nurse or orderly
as to the case in hand. Many operations, as tracheotomy,
amputations for compound fractures, ete., were done in the
might, and all important ones demanded the services of both
internes. Each was first assistant in his own cases, and second
assistant in those of his colleague, giving ether, ete. As a
rule they worked very harmoniously together to the mutual
benefit of all concerned. Each knew the interesting cases of
the other service, and owing to the comparatively small
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between the old and the new more pronounced than it is in
the facilities for performing surgical operations. These
facilities, however, have only kept pace with the demand. In
the early days the number of operations amounted to only a
few hundred annually, while at present they number nearly
or quite as many thousand. The surgeon formerly did all
the operations in his service, and had but one house officer.
As he frequently had from sixty to eighty or ninety patients

—

8. ). TowxseExD, M.ID,

to look after, it can readily be understood that the positions
were anything but sinecures. At present each senior visiting
surgeon has the assistance of two assistant surgeons and four
house officers. The character of the work in these days of
asepsis will explain the necessity for this large corps of pro-
fessional attendants. That the character of the work and the
favorable results furnish reasons for even more gratification
than does the growth of the Hospital in other respects, will
appear later in this sketch.
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Immediate healing of large wounds, *union by firstinten-
tion as it is called, was so rare an event in those days that
it was talked about for weeks, and never forgotten. Conva-
lescence was long, tedious, and beset with all the dangers of
the various infections attending prolonged suppuration, as
erysipelas, cellulitis, phlebitis, general sepsis and gangrene.
The surgeon was in a state of perpetual anxiety as to the

Wixsrow LeEwIs, M.D.

results of his operations. The confidence of the present
day, born of experience with asepsis, was unknown.

We now know that all wounds heal quicker and more sat-
isfactorily in every way without inflammation and suppura-
tion. That these processes are not only unnecessary in the
union of tissnes, but are positively harmful, and in some
instances dangerous or even fatal ; they mean infection,
The rule now is for all operation wounds to unite at once, in
as many days as it formerly required weeks or even months,
Should a wound fail to heal in this manner, the conscientious
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contrast to this are the statistics of the Japanese army. In
this campaign they have had one man die from disease to
two men killed in the regular performance of duty.”! The
latest and most reliable evidence upon the subject goes to
show that at least the mortalivy was no larger from disease
than it was from wounds, a record that no other nation has
thus far been able to show.® Experience goes to show

that in military hygiene and in the prevention of septic

. E. COTTING, M.D

affections in time of war the Japanese lead the world. No
other great war known to history had such freedom from
typhoid fever and most other septic diseases as was in evidence
in the Japanese army in Manchuria. These people have proven
most conclusively that these affections need not exist to any
extent in an army, and it now remains for civilized nations
the world over to learn the lesson and follow in the footsteps
of this wonderful nation of the East.

' Boston Medieal and =argical Journal, September 7, 1905

# Assistant Surgeon Charles Lynch, Captain, General Staff, U. 5. A,
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separated on a director, and the pharynx opened. The finger
of the operator was now enabled to sweep entirely around
the diseased tonsil, the pillars of the soft palate being left
intact. The mass was enucleated and removed, and was of
the size of a pullet’s egg. It proved to be cancer. Twelve
ligatures were applied; smaller branches of the facial nerve
were divided: and paralysis of one side of the lower lip
followed. A single suture in the horizontal ineision: the
wound otherwise was left wholly open, and the air and fluids
passed freely through it.

Liquid nourishment by a stomach tube for one week. At
the end of eight days no fluids escaped from the wound in
deglutition. In seventeen days solids were swallowed. In
thirty-one days the wound was wholly healed. There were
no eomplications.

In this operation regard must be had to the internal carotid
artery, the hypo-glossal, gustatory and glosso-pharyngeal
nerve; pharyngeal fistula does not result.

Cancer is rare in the tonsil. The microscopie, pathological
examination in this case verified the diagnosis. Enucleation
with the finger can be accomplished externally with ease, on
account of the semi-fibrous capsule described by Chassaignac.

Dr. Watson has removed the tonsil by the above method
successfully in one ease for malignant disease.

Compound dislocation of the head of the femur, service of
Dr. David W. Cheever.

November, 1890, a strong man was knocked down by a
case of goods weighing 600 pounds.

In the right groin a small lacerated wound, large enough
to allow the protrusion of the head of the femur, which,
clean and unbroken, lay upon the pubes, just below the
anterior iliac spine.

The limb was shortened, semi-flexed, everted, abducted.

The wound was enlarged : the socket found uninjurved;
the head of the femur was excised and the shaft dropped
back. The limb was brought into position. A eounter-
opening was made in the outer side of the thigh. Two large
drainage tubes were inserted, and an antiseptic dressing
applied.
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were successfully closed in this manner. So far as the writer
remembers there were no failures, but catgut soon came into
vogue, and gave one a feeling of greater security. While
torsion has a sound physiological and practical foundation,
yet a sterile, absorbable ligature leaves little to be desired
for this purpose of safely controlling hemorrhage.
Acupressure with long pins made on purpose to control
bleeding from the larger vessels was used by Dr. Cheever

W, Il ToorxDpIKE, M.D.

and some of the older surgeons of this Hospital for a short
time. The object of the pins was to do away with the long,
out-hanging silk ligatures, which were apt to leave a sinus
and thus delay the healing of wounds.

Mr. John Wood’s operation for the radical cure of hernia
was first performed in this city by Dr. Cheever at this Hos-
pital with considerable success. It consisted in invaginating
and securing the spermatic fascia in the inguinal canal, and
while not quite free from danger, yet a fair proportion of
children and young adults were cured by it.
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tion. That was the first demonstration of the famous
Esmarch tourniquet in this Hospital. From that day to
this the method of controlling hemorrhage with a rubber
bandage and tubing, as described by the famous Kiel sur-
geon, has been in constant use here. For many years the
application of the common roller bandage previous to secur-
ing the Petit tourniquet had been in use at the Massachu-
setts General Hospital, where it was highly recommended by
Dr. Bigelow. The simplicity and efficiency of the Esmarch
method at once caused its immediate adoption, and it is now
in use the world over.

Occasionally an item appears in the newspapers giving a
dramatic account of a physician opening the windpipe, apply-
ing his mouth to the wound and sucking out the obstructing
material, as in diphtheria, etc. DBrilliant and self-sacrificing,
but useless and unnecessary. Nothing can be removed from
the air passages in this way, as has been demonstrated in this
Hospital more than once.

A Chinaman shot himself in the mouth, and was brought
here for treatment, and placed in charge of the writer. While
removing the bullet from just under the skin on the back of
the neck the blood from a wounded vertebral artery ran
down the patient’s throat into his lungs, and stopped his
breathing. The windpipe was immediately opened, a catheter
passed into the bronchial tubes, and, instead of trying to suck
out the fluid, air was forced into the lungs, thereby driving
out the blood, with the result of re-establishing his breathing
and saving his life.

Nature clears the bronchial tubes by forcible explosive
expirations in the shape of cough, and the surgeon cannot
do better than to imitate her methods to the best of his
ability, as was done in the above case, and has been done
here and elsewere in numerous instances.

Dr. William H. Thorndike removed a stone from the
peritoneal cavity, before the days of antiseptics, that
measured five inches in length and three in width, and
weighed two pounds. The patient, a sailor, forty-one
vears old, was in the habit of relieving himself of a
spasmodic stricture of the urethra by sitting on a belay-
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Teaching never ceased, and has been amplified from decade
to decade. How it was in 1900 is thus deseribed by Drs.
Burrell and J. B. Blake:

« It is interesting to note the increase in surgical instruetion
given at the Boston City Hospital during the last ten or
fifteen years. In 1887 there was one surgical clinie and one
surgical visit a week. On Fridays public operations were
done by the surgeons in the amphitheatre. The surgical

Davip W, CHEEVER, M.L.

clinic was given by the Professor of Surgery of Harvard
University ; large sections of the class attended the visit, and
cases were shown by the surgeons. For the fourth-year class,
which had recently been started, surgical visits were made
on Mondays and Thursdays.

“ The clinic given by Dr. Cheever was fully attended and
greatly appreciated. The clear, brief descriptions of elinical
cases, the fa I-seeing prognoses, and the direct, skilful operating,
made the Tuesday clinic one of the favorite exercises of the
Harvard Medical School.
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both bones of the leg, of the fibula, a Pott’s fracture, a com-
pound fracture; then a series of cases illustrating fracture of
the leg at the end of ten days, at the end of three weeks, six
months, and finally one and cne-half or two years. In this
way a picture of the progress of the disease or injury, which
is of great value, is presented to the student’s mind.

“ [ixperience has taught that the extraordinary and unique
cases, which are, of course, to the student’s mind extremely
interesting, are not as desirable clinical material as the com-
mon diseases and injuries., The former, as they present
themselves in a great hospital, should be shown to students,
but never at the expense of omitting the latter.

“ The sequence of presentation of material has been care-
fully studied, and attention has been paid to bringing to the
student’s mind the natural order of injury and disease.
This naturally is only possible where a great amount of
elinical material exists.

“ On one occasion, in the course of a year, twenty-eight
cases of tracheotomy and intubation were shown to the
students, and another time thirty-two cases of appendieitis,
which were recent, had been operated upon, or had not been
operated upon, were shown to the students, and some of the
cases were examined by them.

“ On another oecasion fifteen fractures of the skull of vari-
ous types and conditions, from a simple linear fracture to a
compound depressed fracture, were shown to the students.
All such things are possible with a large amount of clinieal
material carefully watched, analyzed, and tabulated.

« Pathological Material. — The impetus that has been given
to medicine and surgery at the Hospital by the establishment
of the pathological laboratory cannot be exaggerated. In
the surgical clinies the students are constantly tanght to
explain elinical phenomena by pathological conditions, and
fresh pathological material is shown whenever possible.

“The results of the examination of morbid specimens and
of cultures are reported, and the student attending the
clinies consecutively is kept informed of the progress of
the cases. When ocecasion arises the student goes to the
autopsy. i
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small numbers — not over twelve — and one of the number
was chosen to make a thorough examination, subject to the
instructor's correction, to give the diagnosis, the differential
diagnosis, the indications for treatment, the nature of the
treatment and the principles of prognosis. When a student
was unable to answer a question or take the next step his
fellows were invited to help him.’

“ The fourth-year students have, during the last eight years,
been brought more and more in contact with the patient in
the ward, and towards the end of their instruction the subject
of surgery has been presented to them in small sections from
different points of view. For example. sections have been

taught surgical therapeutics, office visits, clinical surgical
pathology, medico-legal examinations in surgical cases, and a
course in sterilization of materials has been given them.

“ [t will never be possible, nor is it desirable, to have
students turned loose in a ward in contact with patients.
They must always be under supervision, but they gain a
great deal of information and grow in their capacity to do
surgical work by being in actual contact with patients.”

The establishment of a concours, or competitive examina-
tion for the positions of internes, or house physicians and
house surgeons, was begun with the opening of this Hos-
pital. It did not then exist in this community. It was
pronounced by eminent medical men the foremost step in
medical education. The City Hospital first enforced it, and
for years did it alone. The examinations were held by the
staff, or members selected; and was thorough, and strictly
fair.  No outside influence was tolerated. Many were
rejected, and the running was so close that fractions had to
be relied on to diseriminate. The successful candidates were
nominated to the Trustees, and, without exception, appointed.
They won a year's residence, board and washing. As a rule
the Hospital has thus secured first-rate men.

The City Hospital staff early advocated publishing Hos-
pital Reports, like those of Guy's, St. Bartholomew's, and St.
Thomas' Hospitals of London. In 1869 it issued a Quin-
quennial Report: thence every five years, for twenty-five
years ; after this it was made an annual and published every
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of the refraction of the eyes, which now forms so large a part of the
work of an ophthalmie elinic. There were beds for ophthalmic house
patients, never more than half a dozen, I think, in other rooms in the
same basement, One or two private patients were lodged in the second
story of the central building, The nurse in charge of the eye patients,
Rosa (for a long time connected with the Hospital), slept in an adjoining
room. There was no night nurse, She was a good deal of a character,
proud of her position, guick, faithful and eflicient according to the
standard of that day.

Early after my term of service began a medical out-patient service
was established, and Dr. C. W. Swan, then pathologist, and 1 were
appointed physicians to out-patients, serving alternate three months,
the rooms occupied being the same as those in which the ophthalmic
out-patient service was held, but on alternate days. My services in
both capacities ceased at the same time, and for at least a year longer
the ophthalmic externe served as one of the physicians to out-patients.

Very truly yours,

(Signed) 0. F. WapswoRrTH.

16 WeEsT 32D STREET,
NEW York, December 2, 1004,

Jouy . BLAkg, Esg., M.D., 212 Beacon Street, Boston, Mass. :

My Dear Docror, — Mea culpa, mea maxima culpa. I have been
derelict in answering your note of inquiry of October 26, but in extenu-
ation of my neglect, let me enter the plea that Canning’s needy knife-
grinder did, ** Story! Good God, sir, I have none to tell.” I frankly
confess that the reminiscences of my early hospital days are somewhat
hazy. As I remember them, I learned a little and enjoyed much;
indeed, I look back to my hospital and student days with feelings of
mingled pleasure and regret — pleasure that I have enjoyed them, regret
that such pleasant moments are granted but once in a mortal's life.

Somehow, at that time of life my recollections were rather of the
humorous side, and I can remember better the funny incidents rather
than the more serious ones, which, of course, you more especially want.,
I remember the manners and customs of my seniors who were visiting
officers, and for whom I shall always entertain feelings of mingled
affection and respect, together with amusement as to their varying
characteristics, which made them all the more charming.

As to the care of the sick, I think they got all that was coming to
them. As to my own work, modesty forbids my saying how perfect 1
thought it was, and as to the memories which I carried away from the
Boston City Hospital, I can merely say that they are among the pleas-
antest of my life, not the least of which is the esteem and liking which
my former ** Visiting,”" to whom I am now writing, inspired in the
breast of his most faithful and obliged pupil.

{Signed ) F. R. Stukeis.
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of medicine, and vice versd. And it is doubtful if even the
Hospital's interest would be subserved by too narrow a
specialization. For, as an instance, surgical patients may
acquire intercurrent medical diseases which need prompt
recognition and treatment, and wvice versd.

A limited degree of “crossed service” has therefore been
deemed desirable for the sake both of the Hospital and of the
young men.

Whether the present term of two years is too long is
another question. With some of our best medical schools
now requiring the equivalent of a college education before
entrance, and with a nearly universal four years’ course,
the time of a young man’s medical training is protracted,
and the addition of two years to it may prove to be unduly
long. Hitherto there has been no such falling off in the
number of applicants as wonld indicate that the two years
of service is felt to be a hardship.®

What becomes of these young men who, after giving the
Hospital their zealous serviee and receiving in return for ita
rich mine of experience, go forth to their life work? As
might be expected, a majority of them settle in Eastern
Massachusetts. But not alone does Greater Boston benefit
from the work of these admirably trained physicians. They
settle over the country and the world. They are found in
every New Lngland State. Something like a score are prac-
tising in the City and State of New York. They are in
Ohio, Illinois, Utah, Minnesota, Michigan, Arizona, Colorado;
six or more are in California: a few are in the border states,
Maryland, Kentucky and Missouri. Seme are in Canada
and Mexico and South America; some in the West Indies,
Hawaii and the Philippines. Several have entered the mili-
tary and naval service of the United States. One, to specify
no more, General Leonard Wood, has earned the highest
laurels in the triple field of medicine, war and eivil adminis-
tration.

* At the time when this history goes to press the staff have advizsed and the Trustees
have ordered that the term for medical and surgleal house officers be reduced, for
snbeequent appointecs, from twenty.four to si xteen monthe.
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The causes which led to the erection of the present patho-
logical laboratory were in the main the greatly increased
demands of the general Hospital, and especially of the new
contagious department, for bacteriological examinations, and
the urgent need of laboratory space so that the post-mortem
and surgical material could be worked up and studied both
histologically and bacteriologically. Additional necessities
were a clinical laboratory for the use of the medical and surgical
internes, a cold storage plant for the preservation of bodies,
and proper facilities for research work in connection with
the pathological material afforded by the Hospital.

The pathological laboratory was established on its present
basis May 7, 1897, and since then has been run on the plan
of a training school. The first assistant visiting pathologist
is on duty throughout the year, and has the immediate
direction of the work. Two pathological internes a year are
appointed, one at the beginning, the other in the middle of
the year. Kach interne serves one year. The assistants in
pathology serve one year each in the junior and senior posi-
tions. They are selected in part from pathological internes
who bave demonstrated marked ability, in part are chosen
from men in other medical schools who have had special
training. The assistants in pathology and the pathological
internes do most of the bacteriological and pathological work
connected with the Hospital, but always under the super-
vigion of the visiting pathologist on duty. This plan
has served to attract for the most part a high grade of men
to the laboratory, and has given it a favorable reputation.
The men who have spent two or three years in the labora-
tory are always in demand in medical schools and other hos-
pitals as teachers and pathologists. So far the demand for
these trained men has greatly exceeded the production.

The teaching carried on in the pathological laboratory
meludes  instrnction to the second-year stundents of the
Harvard Medical School during the first half of the school
year, to graduate students throughout the year, and to a
summer class limited to fourteen for a period of seven weeks
during July and August. In addition the laboratory has
had working in it a number of voluntary assistants.
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The research work carried on in the laboratory is based
almost entirely on material and snggestions derived from the
routine work. The following list of publications will show
what has been accomplished in the past eleven years:

1894,

Councilman, W. T., Gonorrhwieal Myocarditis. Medical and Surgical
Reports of the Boston City Hospital, 1804, V., 55.

Councilman, W. T., Observations on the Kidneys in a Case of "uerperal
Eclampsia. Medical and Surgical Reports of the Boston City Hos-
pital, 1884, V,, 93,

Councilman, W. T., A Case of Supposed Syphilis of the Heart. Medical
and Surgical Reports of the Boston City Hospital, 1804, V., 86,

Councilman, W, T., A Case of Multiple Ruptures of Internal Organs
Produced by a Fall. Medical and Surgical Reports of the Boston
City Hospital, 1804, V., 69. Also, Boston Medical and Surgical Journal,
1894, CXXX., 109.

Morse, J. L., Bacteriology of Diphtheria. Medical and Surgical Reports
of the Boston City Hospital, 1894, V., 29,

Wright, J. H., Studies in the Pathology of Diphtheria, Boston Medi-
cal and Surgical Journal, 1804, CXXXI.,, 320-335, 357-362,

Wright, J. H., and Emerson, H. C., Ueber das Vorkommen des Bacillus
Diphtheriae ausserhalb des Kirpers. Centralbl. f. Bakt. u. Parasi-
tenk., 1804, X V1., 412,

18595,

Councilman, W. T., Surgical Pathology, including Inflammation and the
Repair of Wounds. Dennis’ System of Surgery, 145,

Mallory, F. B., Ueber gewisse eigenthiimliche Firbereactionen der
Neuroglia, Centralb, f. Allg. Path, u. Path. Anat., 1805, V., 753-758.

Mallory, F. B., A Case of Actinomycosis. Medical and Surgical
Reports of the Boston ity Hospital, 1885, VI, 179, Also, Boston
Medical and Surgical Journal, 1805, CXXXII., 296,

Morse, J. L., A Clinical and Experimental Study of the Leucocytosis of
Diphtheria. Medical and Surgical Reports of the Boston City Hos-
pital, 1895, V1., 180, Also, Boston Medical and Surgical Journal,
1805, CX X XII., 228.

P'rescott, W. H., Seven Cases of TPrimary Carcinoma of the Liver.
Medical and Surgical Reports of the Boston City Iospital, 1895, V1.,
2608.

Taylor, E. W., Two Cases of Syphilis of the Central Nervous System.
Medical and Surgical Reports of the Boston City Hospital, 1895, V1.
Wright, J. H., On the Cultivation of Gonococeus from Cases of Gonor-
rhoea, Ophthalmia Purulenta, and Pyosalpinx. American Journal of

the Medical Sciences, 1895, CIX., 109,

Wright, J. H., and Mallory, F. B., Ueber einen pathogenen Kapselbacillus
bei Bronchopneumonie. Zeitsch. f. Hyg. u. Infectionskrankh., 1805,
XX., 220-226, 1 pl.

Wright, J. H., and Stokes, W. R., A Report on the Bacteriological
Investigations of Autopsies. Medical and Surgical Reports of the
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previously, were entirely unsuited to meet the demands of
modern surgery, and an appropriation was asked for to make
the necessary alterations and improvements in Wards S and
. It also became necessary to enlarge the house staff, and
the position of gynwecological clinical clerk was created.

On May 15, 1896, Dr. Edward J. Forster died suddenly
in New York, of cerebral hiemorrhage. He was returning

EDWARD J. FORSTER, M.I),

from Philadelphia, whither he had gone on official duty as
Surgeon-(reneral of Massachusetts.

For sixteen years Dr. Forster had served the Hospital in
various capacities, and at the time of his death was secretary
of the visiting staff as well as visiting physican in this
department. In their report for the year the trustees quote
from their records the following minute expressing their
appreciation of Dr. Forster's service and character: * In the
performance of his duties he was earnestly conscientious,
unwearying and eflicient: he served his patients with kind-
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ness of heart and persistent devotion, and he gave his associ-
ates sterling generosity and helpful intelligence. In his
decease the Hospital has lost a devoted helper, his associates
a faithful friend and the community a valuable and public-
spirited citizen.”

To fill the vacancy caused by Dr. Forster’s death, Dr.
Green was promoted, June 18, 1896, to be visiting physi-
cian : Dr. Haven was subsequently made assistant visiting
physician. Dr. Reynolds became physician for diseases of
women to out-patients, and Frank A. Higgins, M.D., was
appointed his assistant.

During the ensuing years it came to be recognized that the
system under which the surgical and gyniecological depart-
ments were administered was far from satisfactory. No ser-
vice had a responsible head; the visiting surgeons were
overworked ; the out-patient surgeons had little or no oppor-
tunity for experience in the wards. These and other consid-
erations led to a careful study of improved administrative
measures, extending over many months, by committees of the
trustees and of the visiting staff. As a result of these
efforts a new administrative plan for the surgical services
was recommended by the staff, approved by the trustees,
and put into effect in 1897; and on April 20, 1898, the
trustees, on recommendation of the staff, adopted the fol-
lowing rules, similar to those governing the surgical staff,
for the administration of the gynicological service :

The gynmcological service, both house and out-patient, shall have a
senior visiting physician, a junior visiting physician, a first assistant
vigiting physician, a second assistant visiting physician and a third
assistant visiting physician for diseases of women.

The senior visiting physician for diseases of women shall have the
general direction of the service during the entire year. He shall be on
active duty for a period not exceeding four months. When on duty he
shall have the assistance of one or more of the assistant visiting phy-
sicians belonging to the service, in case he desires it. He shall take
full charge of such cases as he wishes, and may assign such of his work
to the assistant visiting physician as he sees fit. He shall also have
the right to take entire charge of such cases as he desires, when not on
active duty, and for such time as he wishes,

The junior visiting physician for diseases of women shall be on
active duty at least four months. When on duty he shall have full
charge of the wards, being responsible, however, to the senior visiting
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ilizing, etherizing and recovery rooms was completed, and
the department was thoroughly equipped for modern snrgical
work.

In the spring of 1900, after an active service in the Hospi-
tal of thirty-six years, Dr. John . Blake resigned from the
gynxcological department, and was appointed a senior physi-
cian to the Hospital. Dr. Green was thereupon promoted to
be senior visiting physician: and in 1901 Drs. Haven, Rey-
nolds and Higgins received promotion to the positions of
junior visiting physician and first and second assistant
visiting physicians respectively. Dr. Franklin S. Newell was
appointed third assistant visiting physician. The resigna-
tion of Dr. Reynolds the following vear led to the promotion
of Drs. Higgins and Newell to be first and second assistant
visiting physicians: and Dr. Ernest B. Young was appointed
third assistant visiting physician. Early in 1903 the rules
were amended to provide for the appointment of an additional
third assistant visiting physician, and Dr. Leo V. Friedman
was appointed to the position.

On September 27, 1903, after a brief illness, Dr. Haven
died. He had served the Hospital in this department more
than fourteen years. In their report for the year the trustees
said: « He was a skilful operator, brilliant in many things,
and made a name for himself in the profession, notably in
his specialty. The trustees desire publicly to express their
regrets at the loss the Hospital has sustained in the death of
Dr. Haven in the prime of his professional life.” In 1903,
also, Dr. Higgins resigned, and Drs. Newell and Young were
promoted to be first and second assistant visiting physicians
respectively.

In the year 1903 further changes were made in the titles,
tenures and assignments to service of the house staff,
Several years previously the title of gynwcological elinical
clerk had given place to that of surgical dresser; but the
incumbent of this office was not in line of promotion. It
was now thought expedient to lengthen the service of a
gynwecological house officer from eighteen months to two
years; to appoint a successful candidate, first, as surgieal
dresser, and, if recommended by the visiting staff, to pro-
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School and later as instructor in gynwxcology he showed de-
cided ability as a teacher. His connection with the Boston
City Hospital began in 1889, when he was appointed assist-
ant to the physician for diseases of women in the out-patient
department. After the department of gyn;cology was
organized with a house service he was made assistant visiting
physician, and later junior visiting physician, which position

EORGE HAvEx, M.,

he held at the time of his death. Both in his hospital work
and in private practice he gave significance and zligl‘:ilj.' to the
specialty of obstetries and gynweology during a period when
the necessity of recognizing such a specialty was doubted by
a large number of the profession. As a surgeon he was
accurate in diagnosis and sound in judgment, while as an
operator he was skilful, careful, resourceful and successful.
Conservative yet bold, he was willing to assume the largest
measure of responsibility, but the interests of his patient
were never forgotten, As a physician his strong personality
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the Rollins box is constantly gaining recognition, now that
the dangers of the X-Rays are more fully appreciated. The
freedom at this Hospital from the very serious results that
have followed the use of the X-Ravs in many other places,
which have involved the loss of fingers, hands, arms, or even

- - = = e e S—

Fia. 1. Plece of steel inarm,. Found only after radiographs: were made, Antero-
posterior view.,

life itself, is attributable to the use of the simple and efficient
means of protection which has been employed and advoeated
at this Hospital. Another device suggested by Dr. Rollins
for the protection cf the physician when making fluoroscopic
examinations is the interposition of a glass plate between the
fluorescent screen and the eyes of the observer and the use

e



120 A—=RAY DEPARTMEXNT.

of metal to prevent the X-Rays from penetrating the box of
the fluoroscope and injuring the practitioner. Modified
forms of these devices are used at the Hospital.

Fluorometer alone and with aluminum plates. The dose of
N-Rays given in therapeutic cases has not been easily deter-
mined. In order to measure the amount of rays issuing

Fic 2, Mrz. H. Fracture of thicd metacarpal bone,  Antero.posterior view.

from the Crookes’ tube, Dr. Francis H. Williams devised
what he has called a fluorometer, and by using this instru-
ment in connection with aluminum plates of different thick-
nesses he has also been able to determine the proportion of
rays of different degrees of penetration issuing from the
tube. The usefulness of this instrument, alone and in con-
nection with aluminum plates, for therapeutic work will be
appreciated when it is realized that by their means the



Flz. 3. Shows the appearances seen in a case of

digense of the bone, from the Sorgieal
Out-Patient Department.
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amount and kind of X-Rays desired can be measured and
applied, and therefore a definite dosage can be used of the
kind of rays adapted to the special patient.

The value of the fluorometer is evident also for photo-
graphic work, as the time of exposure of any given thickness
of tissue can be more accurately determined when the

FiG. 4. Renal caleulus (ealeic oxalate). The ealeulus I8 seen Jusl over one of the
transverse processes inthe beginning of the ureter., A photograph of the calenlug after
removalis pliaced over the body of the last vertebra shown in the pleture. The outline
of the enlarged kidoey, four times the normal size, may also Le seen.

amount and kind of light given out by the tube employed is
known.

Studies with the fluorometer have likewise made it
possible to ascertain the direction in which the maximum
amount of X-Rays issues from the tube, and the curves of
N-Light of different degrees of penetration thus observed
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indicate that the X-Rays are composite in character, but this
point has more scientific than clinical significance at present.

The room in which the work was carried on, 11 feet by
24 feet, was divided into thirds, the first of which was used

Fria. 5. Sthows the method of deawing the ontlines on the patient’s skin while look.
ing through the Huorescope. The fluoroscope 18 held farther away from the patient
than is necessary in practice, In order that the pencll which s under it may be shown
in the pleture. The observer usually stands on the patient’s right, but in order to
show the method of examination better he is seen standing on the patient's left.

The disphragm which is placed under the patient's chest in order to obtain a better
definition of the outlines does not show in this cut,

for a dressing-room, the second for the examining-room and
later also for treating patients, and the third for the appa-
ratus and as a dark room for the development of photographs.
Radiographs were made and developed in this portion of this
small room for two years. In order to have the static
machines dry it was necessary to keep them warm, and
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therefore at certain seasons of the year the temperature of
the room ranged between 95 and 100.  All the work was

done by Dr. Williams.

Fig. 6. Diagram of full inspivation duoring health, The broken lines show the
position of the diaphragm and heart in expiration, bul the diagram does not indieate
that during this time the light area is narrower. The level of the nipples iz indieated
by the dark lines at the sides of the cutl aod near the axiline. The targei of the
vacuum tube wonld be placed under the median line, where it 12 crossed by a line
joining the nipples, to obtain such a pieture,

As time went on it became obvious that the services of a
photographer were needed to take the increasing number of

radiographs, and in the summer of 1898 Mr. E. E. Fewkes,

who had had twelve _‘!.'lj':ll':-q" vxpvr[n*n:-t* as a phntn}_"‘"r:l]ﬂwr.
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about eight years to the basement of Ward A, where more
convenient arrangements were made for its reception. Two

static machines were purchased by the Hospital, and one ol

the largest static machines in existence, which had been

Fri. #. IMagram of an aneariem of the degcending aorta. Full inspivation. The
aneurism wonld uwsoally be higher in the chest than is shown in this diagram., A
dilatation of the ascending areh of the aorta would cast a shadow on the right side of
the sternum, Broken lines show position of diaphragm in expiration. The heavy
lineg nnder the axille indicate the level of the nipples.

designed and used by Dr. William HRollins of Boston, was
also set up. Miss Elizabeth Cheney of Boston made the
Hospital a generous gift of a coil and other X-Ray apparatus
designed by Dr. Rollins.

In 1905, also, the X-Ray department was officially estab-
lished by the trustees and was organized as follows: Physi-
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It 1s not improbable that the work done at this Hospital has
also been of assistance to other institutions and practitioners,
as visits have been made to this department by medical men

trom all parts of this country and from some foreign coun-

Fra. 11, Diagram of ponéeumohydrothorax. Left side. Siiing position.  Level line
of fluid seen in left chest. Heart displaced to right. Retracted left lung not indi
cated s 1t would make a rili;ht-h."u]qr“ in e ]lll["lil.'tll!] of left chest, 11 the '|I-.'I_I'-I|.':I'|l is
examined |:'. il|;_'" on hiz back, with the tunbe helow lli'lllI the whole of the diseased side
is dark, as the fuid lows over it.  If the patient were gently shaken the splashing of
the luld could be observed with the Muoreseent gereen,

tries, who have found here methods and appliances that were

instructive to them.

CrixicAanL WoRk.
A short account of the ways in which the X-Rays are ser-
viceable will indicate the breadth of the work.
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Surgical Work, One of the first uses of the X-Rays was
the location of foreign bodies, such as bullets, needles, ete.
The simple method devised by Dr. Williams * in April, 1896,
for locating such bodies as may be seen in the fluoroscope,

Fig, 12, IMagram of pneumothorax on left side, and tuberculogis on right side.
(The dingram is too dark at the right apex.) Leftside brighter than normal and bright
aren more extengive, Diaphragm low down in ehest; little or no movement, Organs
on lefi gide displaced to right. Heavy lines under axillae indicate level of nipples.

has come Into more and general use as a practical and aceu-
rate method well adapted to the needs of the surgeon. The
radiograph is also of great service, as shown by Fig. 1,
page 514,

Fig. 1.+ shows a piece of steel embedded in the arm,

* Doeseribed in Boston Med. and Surg. Jour,, 180, CXL., 30,
t Many of the cuts are taken from *The Roentgen Have in Medicine and Suor-
gery,” by permiszion of the Macmillan Company.
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Two examinations for this foreign body failed of result, and
it was not found until a radiograph was taken.
The more exact knowledge of the conditions present in

cases of fracture and disease of the bones which can be ob-

Fig, 13, Radiograph of a patient with pulmonary tuberculosis and pneumothorax.
The mottling of the pulmonary areas, the result of the tuberculosis, may be plainiy
geen; the outline of the partially collapsed lung, caused by the pnenmothorax, is
clearly indicated.

tained by radiographs is now availed of by the surgical staft
almost as a matter of routine. (Fig. 3, page 321.) Certain
fractures, such as those of the scaphoid bone, are clearly seen
by means of the X-Rays, but by other methods would be
difficult of recognition. Fig. 2, page 320, shows a fracture
which is apt to be overlooked by the ordinary methods, but
which is easily seen by the X Rays.
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The diagnosis of remal caleuli by means of the X-Rays,
which was first demonstrated by Dr. Macintyre of Glasgow,
as well as that of ureteral and vesical ealeuli, has been made

at this [IH:-'I]EI_H] for some vears with H'ri.llihir;u:trll'_].' results.

Fre, 14, DMiagram of pleurisy, with large effusion; inzpiration. Broken lines gshow

positlon of dinphragm ln expiration.

Richt side darkened 1|:|t'llt1_l.;]|l'lLi| ]'-_'u' presencg of Muid, Heart [II'I.'*e-'L"II to left I!l_‘- Nuid
and action of left lung interfered with. After four litres had been drawn from the
right side, the excursion of the diaphragm on the left side beécame much greater and

was higher in the thorax

The method emploved here is believed to include the good
points of those used by others and to have some special
advantages of its own. Fig. 4, page 322, illustrates the
appearances seen in a case of renal caleulus in a patient of
Dr. Nichols. The outline of the enlarged kidney may be
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ple clinical method for the examination of diseases of the
chest; a method which shows the conditions of the various
organs in the thorax in their relation to each other, which

permits of eareful study of any special part of the thorax,

Fic. 17. Dingram of emphygema of both lungs in full Inspiration. Broken lines
ahiow position of dinphragm in expiration, Nipple level Indicated by heavy lines
under axilla.

Lungs brighter and long axis of heart more vertical than normal ; excursion of dia.

prhragm shorter than novmal, and low down in the thorax

and which enables the physician to compare accurately
appearances seen in the chest at different examinations made
at longer or shorter intervals. This method has the advan-
tage of requiring comparatively little apparatus, and has all

the accuracy a clinical method needs. The main points of
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this method are, first, the proper distance and angle of the
vacuum tube from the photographic plate or fluorescent
screen ; the shadows may be misleading if this point 1s not

borne in mind. Second, recording the [l!JHil[uIJ of the tube

Fiiz. i, Diggram of ppenmonia. Seventeenth day of discase. No physical signs
on or after this day.

Diark area and restricted movement of the diaphragm on the left glde: the move
ment 12 alao less than normal on the right side.  The dack area diminished graduoally,
and the excursion of the diaphragm on hoth sides increased from Week to week.
There were still X.Ray signs on the thirty -sccond day

with regard to the patient, in order that the appearances seen
at one examination may be compared with those observed at
another : u!ui its uniform ]lnr-ciiillll. The washer shown in
Fig. 2, page 320, illustrates the former point, as it marks the

:-.-Eu.[ "'}'l’”:"i“' which the tube was E!];Iw'i] when this radio-
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earlier stage of the disease by means of the X-Rays than
by any other method.

Fig. 5, page 323, shows the method of drawing the outlines
on the skin while looking through the fluoroscope. The radio-

Fra, 20, Diagram of pulmonary tuberculosis. Right side.

Right apex darker and excursion of diaphragm ghorter than normal on right side,

In this diagram the apex s darker, and the exeursion of the diaphragm is more
rogtrietod than in the very early stage of the disense, partly for purposes of illusira

tion, and In the case of the apex also, because it is difficult to get a slight amount of
ghadow reproduced in the half-tone.

graph is also useful in examining the chest, but the fluoro-
scope is of more value, as the organs can be seen in motion.

Fig. 6, page 324, is a diagram of the chest in full inspiration
during health.

Fig. 7, page 325, is an X-Ray tracing of the normal chest.
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The value of the X-Rays in the diagnosis of chest diseases
is exemplified by the following. Careful comparison between
the size and position of the heart, as determined by ausculta-
tion and percussion on the one hand and X-Ray examinations

on the other, have shown conclusively that when the heart is

FiG. 21 Radiograph of a ease of pulmonary tuberculosiz, in which both apices
are affected, as ghown by the darkened areas in this portion of the lungs. The
motiling seen below the aplees indieates that the lungs are also affected here.

normal in size and position its borders may usually be acecu-
rately recognized by auscultation and percussion, but that
when its position or size is abnormal the outlines obtained by
the older methods are frequently not in accordance with the
more definite, aceurate and complete outlines obtained by the
fAluoroscopic examination. Fig. 8, page 326, illustrates this

point. Moreover, the fluoroscope permits the study of the
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movements of the heart in two ways; its own movements —
systole and diastole —and the character of its movement
during deep inspiration. The importance of accurate infor-
mation in regard to the size and position of the heart when
diseased needs no emphasis.

An X-Ray examination has been shown to be of great
service for recognizing aneurisms in the thorax in an early
stage (see Figs. 9 and 10, pages 327 and 328), or what is of
very great importance, as a means of excluding a diagnosis
of aneurism which is not infrequently made on other grounds.
The presence of new growths or glands or other abnormal
conditions, such as diverticula of the wsophagus, may also
be studied advantageonsly by this method.

FiG. ?2. Dermatitis berpetiformis. At the beginning of X-Kay treatment.

An X-Rayexamination offers a new and very advantageous
means of making a diagnosis in abscess of the lung, and of
locating its position with far greater accuracy in some cases
than has hitherto been possible. New growths in the lung,
their site and development, may also be easily studied.

The ability to demonstrate the absence or probable presence
of liquid in the pleural cavity, is another of the ways in
which the N-Rays are of service. The diagnosis of pneu-
mohydrothorax or pneumopyothorax may now be made with
more certainty than hitherto, and I think the records of the
Hospital will show that since X-Ray examinations have been
made this disease has been more frequently recognized in the
Hospital than formerly. This method of chest examination
has also eontributed to the recognition of the fact that pneu-
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mothorax may be a more acutely dangerous condition for a
patient than when the chest contains a large pleuritic effu-
sion. Fig. 11, page 329, shows the appearances seen in the
chest in pneumohydrothorax.

Fig. 12, page 330, shows the appearances seen in the chest
in pneamothorax.

Fig. 14, page 832, shows the appearances seen in the chest
in pleurisy with large effusion.

Fig. 15, page 333, is taken from an N-Ray tracing of the ap-
pearances seen in the chest in a case of pleurisy with effusion.

Fia, 23. Dermatitis herpetiformis. At the beginning of X-Ray treatiment.

Fig. 16, page 334, is taken from an X-Ray tracing of the
same patient a month later. The pleurisy had improved:
the shadow at the apex of the lung was due to tuberculosis.

Emphysema of the lungs is a disease not infrequently
overlooked in young persons, but the X-Rays can demonstrate
its presence beyond cavil. Fig. 17, page 3535, shows the
appearances seen in the chest in emphysema.

It is sometimes difficult to make a differential diagnosis
between pneunmonia and some other diseases: for instance,
during an epidemic of cerebro-spinal meningitis, some cases
of pneumonia may be mistaken for meningitis, or fractured
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method can ever be more than palliative in this disease ;
but if used it should always be with great care.

Dermatitis Herpetiformis. One case of this disease treated
by the X-Rays at the hospital is of such interest that it 1s
given in some detail.

William W., 26 years of age. Well developed and nour-
ished. Entered the Boston City Hospital Mavch 11, 1903.
Three weeks before entrance several joints became painful
and tender, and one week before a rash appeared over the
trunk. The patient grew worse until May, then improved
somewhat in May and June, but became worse again in July
and August. Suffered much in September and October. In
November he was absolutely Lelpless, had to be fed, and could
not even turn over a newspaper. He had been given various
kinds of external and internal treatment after consultation
with the dermatologists at the Hospital.

The patient came under the care of Dr. Francis H.
Williams in October, 1903, and on November 4 he began to
use the N-Rays on small areas and omitted all other treat-
ment, These areas improved, and therefore during Novem-
ber Dr, Williams had every part of the skin exposed to the
X-Rays for five minutes, the patient having nine general
exposures in all during this month. He was earried to the
X-Ray room on a stretcher, and in order to avoid the neces-
sity of turning him the tube was placed above, beside or
below him as the surface to be treated required. At the
end of November his general condition had decidedly im-
proved : there was less pain and tenderness in his legs, and
he was better able to move in his bed without suffering :
many papules had disappeared without reaching the vesicuiar
stage ; the skin was less congested. Improvement continued
until the latter part of December, but was followed by a
relapse coincident with a diminution in the number of
exposures to the X-Rays during this month (only six were
given in December). In January, 1904, nine X-Ray treat-
ments were given, and improvement was gradual and con-
tinued under the use of the NX-Rays during February and
March. The patient left the Hospital in April, 1904. The
skin was then soft, smooth and free from all pustules and
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erusts. He had a total of forty-four treatments, every portion
of the skin baving been exposed to the X-Rays five minutes
at each treatment.

Figs. 22 and 23, pages 540 and 341, show his condition
after he had improved somewhat under exposure to the

Fia. 25. Dermatitis herpetiformis. Afler treatment by the X-Rayve.
(Compare with Flges, 22 and 23.)

X-Rays. (He suffered too much to be photographed before
X-Ray treatment was begun.) Figs. 24 and 25, pages 343
and 345, indicate his condition after the X-Ray treatment
had been fully carried out.

In April, 1906, the patient presented himself at the
Hospital to show how well he was. He had been free from
pain ; his skin was in perfect condition; he had become
rather stout, and was walking 3} miles a day for exercise.
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The use of the X-Rayvs as a means of treating certain new
growths has a special interest for us, because cases of these
diseases treated at the Hospital are among the earliest in

Fic, 36, Gl K, aifty.one yearsof age.  Clinfeal dingnosis, epithelioma of nose. Dura-
tion, two years. HBefore treatment by the X-Rays.

which the N-Rays were so employed, and, so far as 1 am
aware, were the earliest in which it was demonstrated. as
already mentioned, that the use of the X-Rays was followed
hy healing without in any way acting as a cautery: that is
to say, that the mild use of the X-Rays, without producing

any burn, caused some superficial new growths to heal.



WILLIAMS, 347

Figs., 26 and 27, pages 346 and 347, show a case of rodent

ulcer of the nose, before and after treatment by the X-Rays.

Fra. 27, G. F. Has been well for more than three vears.

That the X-Rays have value as an analgesic is beyond
question; not only do they diminish the amount of pain
which accompanies some new growths, but they may also
reduce pain from other causes-— for example, the pain of
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patient staff, a second assistant was appointed, and an
externe was assigned to the department. In 1890, on the
opening of the new medical out-patient building, the depart-
ment was assigned three commodions rooms on the second
floor of that building and given anew electrical outfit, includ-
ing a static machine and an adequate supply of Instruments
for diagnostic purposes. With the increased amount of
teaching done by the staft at the Harvard and Tufts Medical
Schools, the nereased number of assistants, externes and
patients, and the introduction of massage by volunteers
from several of the gymnastic schools in the city, these
rooms became quite inadequate, and in June, 1904, the
department was assigned one wing containing seven rooms
and a large corridor on the ground floor of the new surgical
out-patient building. At the same time it was given an
elaborate electrical apparatus supplied by the street current,
with two tables for galvanism and faradism, a motor for the
static apparatus, high frequency, thermo-electric and X-Ray
apparatus, and many new instruments for diagnosis. The
department has also acquired, largely by gifts from the
staff, a small neurological library, a set of neurological wall
charts for teaching purposes, and a collection of microscopi-
cal preparations of neuro-pathological interest, so that it is
now well equipped for out-patient work, and needs only the
assignment of beds for cases requiring hospital treatment to
make it equal to any other department. A request for such
beds was made in 1891, but was not granted. On March 22,
1894, the title of the physicians was changed to * physicians
for diseases of the nervous system,” dropping the term
“ out-patient,” inasmuch as the physicians were often called
in consultation over patients in the wards. On May 5, 1902,
the cumbrous title of *assistant to the physicians ™ was
changed to the simpler term ¢ assistant physician.”

On March 15, 1899, the senior physician of the depart-
ment was made a member of the senior staff, so that the
department for nervous diseases might have representation
at the meetings of the senior staff. On June 8, 1900, the
trustees anthorized the appointment of temporary assistants
in the department for six months, and on April 27, 1904, a
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ciety,” stands at the head of the records of this meeting, and
continues so to do during the meetings of the following years,
until December 20, 1900, when the name Boston City Hospital
Clinical Club first appears. This, in turn, as before noted,
gave place in 1905 to the present title,

At an early date, indeed immediately upon his appoint-
ment as pathologist to the Hospital in 1892, Dr. W.T. Coun-
cilman interested himself in the informal gatherings of
the house officers. With Dr. Post Le endeiavored to make it
possible for each one of the house staff to see and hear about
the most interesting cases in all of the lospital wards.
Medical cases were thus brought to the notice of the surgi-
cal internes, surgical cases demonstrated to the medical
house staff and pathological specimens to both. It began in a
modest way in an endeavor to give greater opportunities for
observation and information to the house officers, and to
utilize more than had previously been the case the wonder-
ful wealth of chemical material constantly passing through
the hospital wards — an amount of material so great that the
individual house officer, intent upon the never ending and
never endable routine of work, was apt to view only as a
bewildering, and at times confusing, panorama, passing all
too rapidly before his tired eyes. To Dr. Post is due the
credit of inaugurating these meetings, and he more than any
other single individual gave both time and thought to them
during the first decade of their existence.

From this has developed the present custom, which is
to have six monthly meetings during the winter, devoted to
all the departments of the Hospital, but divided mainly into
equal groups of medical, surgical and pathological. In
former years it was the custom to show the patients first,
then to describe them a little more in detail and at greater
length, and finally to have a demonstration of interesting
specimens, chiefly pathological. The meetings are usually
held in the Hospital Library, though at times, especially when
lantern slides are shown, the surgical amphitheatre is utilized.
The attendance is large, free discussion and (uestioning is
encouraged, and every effort is made to facilitate explanation
and examination of the eases. Until 1903 cases shown at
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quently made permanent by general consent, the officers to
hold their position until the more complete organization of
the association,”

These paragraphs are taken from the original minutes of
this earliest meeting, which was called by Dr. R. A. King-
man, and to whom belongs the eredit of forming the organi-
zation. In its early days the organization was called « The
Boston City Hospital Club,” and its objects were *to pro-

JOHN BArsT BLAKE, M.I).

mote the social and professional relations of the members,
and to advance the interests of the Hospital.”

It is to be noted that at its foundation this was essentially
a social body, a elnb whose members must be graduates of
the Hospital, but which did not in any way pledge itself to
elect all house officers, past and future, to membership. The
idea of an alumni association developed as years went by.
The club originally limited its honorary membership to five,
and had no associate membership at all. The earliest
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honorary members were the first president, Dr. Cheever, and
Dr. John G. Blake.

The club voted to hold annual meetings, usnally dinners,
in June, on the day before the banquet of the Massachusetts
Medical Society. In this way it was hoped to secure the
attendance of men from distant parts of the State, who at
other times would be less likely to come to Boston. This
was done until 1894, when the date of the dinner was changed
to February (1895), and since then this custom has continued.

In 1899 the « Hospital . Day ™ was inangurated : the actual
Hospital plant, buildings, grounds, ete., was increasing so
fast that it seemed desirable to bring the older graduoates
back again to the scenes of their medical childhood. The
members were therefore invited to inspect the newer buildings,
make visits to the wards, witness operations and take lunch in
the library, offered by the courtesy of the trustees. The Alumni
dinner is held on the evening of this day, and the combination
has been so successful that it has been repeated each year and
is now a regular and recognized part of the annual meeting.

In this same year the members voted to change the name
from the Boston City Hospital Club to the Almuni Associa-
tion of the Boston City Hospital, and incidentally with the
change of name gave up certain traditions which were more
or less closely associated with the idea of a club. All house
officers are now eligible for admission if they have served one
vear in the Hospital. Their names are considered by the
nominating commitiee and are presented to the members at
the annual meeting, and are always favorably aeted upon by
a voice vote. For practical purposes, favorable consideration
by the nominating committee is equivalent to election.

In 1902, after several years of consideration, the association
took another wise step in admitting to associate membership
those gentlemen of the visiting staff not graduates of the
Hospital. This was the final abandonment of the «club”
idea, and the establishment of the association upon the
broadest basis. It was obvious that the men who were
doing active work in the Hospital day by day had fully as
much vital interest in the institution as those who graduated
from it and then saw it only oceasionally in after years. It












378

Edward J. Cutter, died, Leomins- |

ter, 1900.
Calelh B. Underhill, died, Somer-
ville, 1857,
Charles D). Sawin, Charlestown.
Herbert B. Whitney, Denver, Col,
Charles . Weston, Minneapolis,
Minn.
Rufus A. Kingman, Boston,
Hayward W. Cushing, Boston.

William T, Brown, Norwich, Conn. |
| Elliot ;. Brackett, Boston.

1882,

Josiah N, Hall, Denver, Col.

Maurice D, Clark, Haverhill.

Lemuel F. Woodward, Worcester.

Royal Whitman, New York.

Parke W. Hewins, Brookline.

Edward P. Elliot, died, 1897 (Dan-
vers). ()

Herbert S. Johnson, Malden.

John Trumbull, Valparaiso, Chili.

Henry A. Wood, Waltham.

1883.

Wallace Preble, Cambridge.
Samuel Delano, Boston,
Joseph B. Murphy, Taunton.
David E. Baker, Newtonville.
Phillip C. Knapp, Boston.
George E. Thompson, Boston.
Stephen A, Welch, Providence.
John B. Brainard. Boston.
Clement W. Sparhawk, West Rox-
bury.
Robert Bell, Medway.

15584,

James B, Field, Lowell.

Silas H. Ayer, Boston,

Eugene Fuller, New York.

Leonard Wood, Washington, D. C.

Wallace C, Keith, Brockton,

Walter I.. Munro, Providence.

J. Arthur Gage, Lowell.

George E. Brewer, New York.

Willis Watson, Bass Harbor, Me.

Eugene P, Stone, Washington, D.C,
(. 5. Navy.)

George H. Washburn, Boston,
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1885.

Rohert W. Greenleaf, died, Boston,
1400 .

Charles E. Durant, Haverhill.

Hobert W. Lovett, Boston.

John C. Munro, Boston,

Francis C. Murphy, Roxbury.

Edward T. Twitchell, Dorchester.

Charles E. Taft, Hartford, Ct.

Oliver . Howe, Cohasset.

George W. Perkins, Ogden, Utah.

18806.
Samuel Breck, Boston.
Charles B. Graves, New London,
Ct.
George O. Ward, Worcester.
William B. Fiske, died, Cam-
bridge, 1882,
H. Lincoln Chase, Brookline.
Herbert L. Smith, Nashua, N. H.
William H. Prescott, Boston.
John W. Perkins, Kansas City, Mo.
Edward L. Twombly, Boston.

1887.

| Charles J. Foote, New Haven, Ct
Walter E. Paul, Boston.

Cyrus F. Carter,
1893.

William Barnes, Decatur, I1L

Charles M. Whitney, Boston.

Richard P. Francis, Montelair, N..J.

Percival J. Eaton, Pittsburg, Pa.

Walter L. Burrage, Boston.

John B, Walker, New York.

Paul Thorndike, Boston.

died, Boston,

1888,
Reuben Peterson, Jr., Ann Arbor,
Mich.
William A. Morrison, Boston,
George A. Webster, Boston.
Nathaniel 8. Hunting, Quiney.
Stephen A. Mahoney, Holyuke.
Warren R. Gilman, Woreester.
L. Wadsworth Tuck, died in hos-
pital, 1888,
John A. Horgan, Roxbury.
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Marsena P. Smithwick, Boston.
George B, Henshaw, Cambridge.

Theron H. Carter, died, Boston,
1809,

John Dennett, Jr., Congress, Ari-
ZODA.

Dudley Carleton, Springfield.

Theodors . Erh, Boston.

John P. Treanor, Dorchester.

Edward P. Starbird, Roxbury.

Henry B. Stevens, West Hoxbury.

1895.

Fred Drew, Boston,
Ben, H, Metealf, Winthrop.

William H. Robey, Jr., Roxbury.
Frank L. Morse, Somerville,
Augustus W. Dudley, North Cam.
bridge.
John R. Cowan, Danville, Ky.
Herman T. Baldwin, Chestnut
Hill.
Frank E. Bateman, Somerville.
Charles B. Dunlop, Worcester.
Henry P. Lovewell, Providence.
Cleon M. Hibbard, died, 1808,
Henry D. Chadwick, Waltham. i
Arthur W. Marsh, Worcester.
Charles M, Hutchinson, Cam- |
bridge, .
William N. Tenney, Canton '
John J. Curry, died, 1903 (Fort
Myer, Va. ?).
Herman W. Gross, Brookline,
Calvin . Page, Boston,
Frank W, Harriman, died in hos-
pital, 1806,

1896.

Thomas B. Cooley, Ann Arbor, |
Mich. :

George F. Dow, Reading.

Edward N. Libby, Roxbury,

Joseph A. Mahon, Dorchester.

William Thorndike, Milwaukee,
Wis,

Vivian Daniel, Watertown.

Hyrum A. Anderson, Salt Lake
City, Utah,

Charles S, Wright, Boston. '
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Edward W. Pinkham, Winthrop.
Sylvester ¥. McKeen, Allston.
Samuel W. Ellsworth, Quiney.
Lawrence W. Strong, Brighton,
John T, Bottomley, Boston.
Harry E. Sears, Beverly.
Arthur T. Mann, Tewksbury.
George T. Page, Cambridge.
George F. Freeman, Washington,
D. C. (U, 8. Navy).
William H. Downey, Peabody.

1897.

Donald R, Hinckley, died, 1901,
New Haven. Conn,

Arthur M. Worthington, Dedham.

David N. Blakeley, Roxbury.

Lyman Allen, Burlington, Vt.

Henry J. Perry, Boston.

John H. Moore, Boston,

William H. Fitzgerald,
town, Conn.

C. 8. Knight, Bangor, Me,

Frank R. Stubbs, Newton.

Ralph C. Larrabee, Boston.

Fred G. Burrows, San Francisco,

Cal.
William G. Adams, Hyde Park.

Middle-

| Sanford R. Catlin, Rockford, 111.

Randolph C. Hurd, Newburyport.

Patrick F. Kelleher, Cambridge.

Robert W. Guiler, Washington,
D. C. (U. 5, Army).

David H. Walker, Boston,

Elmer 8. Tenney, Washington,
D. C. (U. 8. Army).

Charles F. Caverly, Boston.

1898.
Ralph E. Stevens, Marlborough.
Arthur I. Weil, New York.
Herbert E. Bufinm, Somerville.

| Harry A. Barnes, Boston,

Michael F. Burke, Natick.
Frederick W. Stetson, Dorchester.
Lesler F. Potter, New Bedford.
John H, Pettee, Roxbury.

John H. Blodgett, Boston.
Theodore 8. Bacon, Springfield.
George E. Emery, Worcester.
Alfred T. Huntington, died, 1800,












284 HISTORICAL SKETCH OF TRAINING SCHOOL.

women to become nurses. Last year there were nearly 900
applicants to fill about 60 vacancies.

Great impetus was given to the school in the year 1885,
when the Nurses’ Home was built on East Springfield street.
This was the third building exclusively used in any hospital
in the United States for housing the pupils of a training
school.  Another great impetus followed the occupation of

Misg LIxDa RICHARDS,
Superintendent of Nurses, 1878-1370] 18521855,

the Vose House for nurses in the year 1900,  The number of
assistant superintendents has been increased, additional lec-
turers and teachers supplied, and excellence of work has
resulted most happily by the improved training of the nurses
who are graduated.

The course of training required two years until recently,
when it has been increased to three years. (The course of
training, lectures, drills, demonstrations, can be found in the
recent annual reports.) The school is now in the transition
period, and it is hardly possible to present a finished curricu-
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lum during this evolution, while it is undergoing a constant
change in order to develop the best course available for three
yvears’ work.

The training is now preceded by a preparatory school of
four months, which may later be further increased. All the
probationers are assigned to a teacher, who has special charge
of their study, work and drill. Their afternoons are given
chiefly to study, class work and practice. They are sent

A——
. ¢
") 4
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mto the wards to learn certain simple details, such as how to
care for the linen and the ward work generally, feed feeble
patients, and other practical work.

There is a * practice room ” in the Nurses’ Home equipped
with ward beds, bedding, all kinds of linen, utensils, medi-
cine closet, where the pupils are taught and drilled in actual
work. There is a room in the second story of the Vose
House arranged as a schoolroom. A special course in
domestic science is given. In these two rooms they obtain
most of their preliminary teaching and drill, reinforced by
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actual practice in the wards, but they are not entrusted with
the care of patients.
Many of the difficulties of the two years’ course will dis-

appear, — an important one is lessening the constant cliange
of nurses from ward to ward and station to station, in order to
oive them proper and as complete a training as possible. They

will now have more training and for longer periods, which

Miss ALMira O, Davis,
Superintendent of Nurses, 1870-1852,

will give greater continuity to the routine of work, and benefit
the patients by better care and nursing. Nurses will re-
ceive eight months of medical training, eight months of
surgical training, four months of gynwcological work, six
months at the South Department for infectious cases, four
months at a maternity hospital, and for the remaining time
they will be assigned to work in the operating room, Out-
Patient Department, emergency training at the Relief Station
and other special work. During the last six months of the
third year, it is proposed to offer elective courses, whereby
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nurses may, as far as practicable, choose special training in
the branches they prefer the same as in a college course.
The training school is a part of the Hospital organization
the same as other subdivisions of the administration. It is
under the charge of the trustees of the Hospital, two
trustees constituting the Committee on Training School.

-w 5

b

PRACTICE ROOM OF PREPARATORY CLASS.

To them is entrusted the special charge of matters not suf-
ficiently important to be considered by the whole Board.

Dr. Cowles, who organized the school, remained until
June 1, 1879, when he was succeeded by the writer, who
has aimed to develop and enlarge the character of the School
and to keep it in line with the foremost institutions for
nursing.

The first Superintendent of Nwrses was Miss Linda
Richards, who came to the Hospital January, 1878, and
remained until July, 1879, when she was obliged to leave on
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account of ill-health. Following the resignation of Miss
Richards, Miss Almira C. Davis served as Superintendent of
Nurses from 1879 to 1882, when Miss Linda Richards again
took up the work. In November, 1885, Miss Richards
resigned to become the pioneer of American missionary
nursing in Japan. Miss Luey L. Drown was then appointed
superintendent and still retains the position.

NURSER' CLABR-RODM,

There are (1906) 148 nurses in the training school,
including graduate head nurses in t‘ll:ll'ge of wards, under-
graduates and probationers. There are 154 beds in the
Nurses’ Homes, for their accommeodation, and it is a pleasure
to record that in no part of the Hospital has the improve-
ment been more marked than in the housing and diet of
nurses.

The number who have been graduated from the training
school is as follows :
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received about one hundred and twenty thousand (120,000)
dollars. The trustees of Mr. Wyman's estate, Messrs. A. F.
Estabrook and Charles H. Watson, diselaim any credit in
the assignment of the City Hospital gift in the following

LAMONT (. BURNHAM,

words: « The credit of the application of the money for the
Relief Station in Haymarket square was due to the president
of your Board of Trustees, Mr. Shuman, and we assure you
it was a pleasure for all to co-operate with Mr. Shuman in
the result.”

Mrs. Ann White Vose, widow of Mr. Josiah Vose, lived
on Washington street in the vicinity of Oak street. Mus.
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the highest appreciation of all those interested in the welfare
of the nurses and the Hospital for their wise consideration
in turning over this munificent sum for the above purpose,

Credit 1s due in no small [IL'{_:I'E*E to Hon. “l‘lll'}.' H. Hll!ilgllif*

Murs, AXN WHITE VORE,

at that time a trustee of the Hospital, through whose
influence it was secured. The building erected with this
money 1s most admirably adapted for the uses intended, and
will be an enduring monument to the generosity of the donor
and to the wisdom of her agents.

Another benefactor of this Hospital deserves more than a
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passing notice, as he not only served as a consultant for

some years, but made the institution his residuary legatee.
Dr. Silas Durkee, son of Hon. John Durkee. was born in

Hanover, N. H., November 22, 1798, Was graduated from

BlLAS DURKEE, M.D,

Dartmouth College, and took his medical degree at Bruns wick
(now Bowdoin) College in 1822, After practising in Ports-
mouth, N. H., for some years, he removed to Boston in 1841,
and became noted as a specialist in skin and venereal diseases.
For a long time his writings upon these topics held a high
position in medical literature, and most deservedly so, being
clear, conecise and practical. His * Treatise on Venereul
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accompanied in his morning trot by one or more temporarily
enthusiastic house officers, but as a rule they quickly fell by
the wayside, either figuratively or actually, while he, like the
brook, went on forever.

Baseball, in its cruder and more primitive form, has from
time immemorial been a favorite sport of the internes. In
1890, when several celebrated college stars were in the Hos-
pital, it was regularly practised on the then vacant grass plot
where Ward X now stands. DBaseball of a superior grade
of excellence was then an almost everyday occurrence, and a
long fly which rudely entered the windows of the neighbor-
ing Homaopathic Hospital was considered an achievement of
which the batter might be justly proud and properly remem-
bered ; from these games came the annual field day contest,
of which more anon. Football was also a frequent pastime
on the same grass plot, though this more strenuous game was
usually a trifle too vigorous for the out-of-training internes.

The permanent forms under which athletics now flourish
at the Hospital are to be seen in the Annual Field Day, in
the squash tenmis building and the new lawn tennis courts.
These three factors umite in encouraging all internes who
have taken exercise in the past to eontinue it during their Hos-
pital course. It is perhaps possible that one who has never
taken exercise can live a working life fairly well without it ;
but it is certainly true that one who has been brought up in the
exercise habit needs fresh air and physieal exertion to keep
him at the top notch of bodily condition. This well-known
fact has received fresh emphasis in Dr. Emerson’s paper on
the sickness of house officers at the Boston City Hospital.

[n 1896 Drs. Blake and Lund invited the surgical and
medical externes— Drs. Bottomly, Ellsworth, McKean, Strong,
Page, Sears and Pinkham — to a pienic at Riverside upon
the smiling Charles. Provisions of both essential characters
were stowed into dress suit cases, and the company paddled
up stream in two canoes until they found a secluded spot
for field sports and subsequently for swimming. This im-
promptu affair was a huge suceess, though the lunch, which
was consumed in the open on the river bank and immediately
after the bath, and was being eaten without the formality of
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the hiouse officers, asserting that he found that good physical
condition was essential to good hospital work., It was de-
termined to build the City Hospital courts by a general
subscription from all members of the staff who cared to
contribute, and more than §1,000 was subseribed in this way
from thirty-four members of the staff. The trustees gave the
land and as much more money as was necessary to complete
two large and satisfactory indoor courts, which immediately
came into favor. Several tommaments have been held, and
though the intensity of the interest varies from year to year,
squash has ably supplemented lawn tennis and has added new
sources of enjoyment as well as health to the house officers’ lot.

Lawn tennis, as already mentioned, was first played in the
old court between Wards R and T. After the city closed
East Springfield street and took the land as far as Massa-
chusetts avenue, new courts were laid out on this fresh area.
Four years ago this land was again graded, and now two
excellent clay courts are in daily use just beyond the squash
building. These courts have also been the scene of many
tournaments and not a few inter-hospital econtests — City
Hospital internes competing with teams from the Massachu-
setts GGeneral and Children’s Hospital, and, be it said, win-
ning a fair share of substantial victories.

Exercise in the open air is always in its most desirable form,
and these courts attract not only a large number of contest-
ants, but also a still larger crowd of interested spectators.
The visiting hours from 2 to 3 P.M. give most of the internes
a period of leisure, and at this time, in fair weather, the ten-
nis courts become the mecca for the house staff. Each year
sees an increase in the attention paid to reasonable physical
exercise of an enjoyable nature, and results unquestionably
in an improved physical condition of the house officer.

In the facilities for games and sports thus provided, and
in the tradition of exercise which is gradually growing in
volume, may be seen the practical recognition of the old
adage, that «all work and no play makes Jack a dull boy,”
and the determination on the part of the authorities to make,
in so far as they may, the position of the house officer at the
Boston City Hospital one of the most desirable in the world.

































